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, During this time were the relation demanding tbe dead 
bodies? A, They were demanding from the very e inninj.!, 

Q, This delay caused resentment among t the people? • y ", . 
Q, [11 your view durin!/, these days wa there all)' 1I1l1l<:reSsa y 

display f Military and Police auth rity ? 
A. Generally it arou!led feelings atth 'ght 0\ tht: polk!!. It 

would have been more advisable if the authorities had kept them JI1 

the background-if they wt:re not shown as they w~re. 
Q, Why ? 
A, Tbt: relation between tht: poli and the people in n .. lhi 

i~ not good and it was specially Sf) during those days . 
.. In Dt!lhi are they very much hated by the people? 

A. e!l, during those days they were very mu h haled 

uppo fng no Militar) or Ponce had been called out, wonld 
rder nave been preserved ?-.\. . III) nn two day difficulties arose, 

the 30th and the 17th and in qpile of their' di like people kept qu iet. 
( n other days the Police did not interfere and nothing happened. 

Q. ould rder have heen maintained without the Police on rhe 
th 1l11d the [7th ?-A. In my \'iew nothing would have l1<1pp u d 

if the .l:'olice and the Mili tarr had not heen there, exc~pt lhe brt~ak· 
iug of the gla. 'es at the railway station on the 30th. 

Do you mean to say that the presence of the Military n 
the Police cau ed thi ?- .\ . If the P lice and the ~1'ililarv wer n t 

there no firing would have taken place and all that would hav ken 
pia. e would be the breakin ' of 11 ft:\\' gla se in the 'tlLtiu,Il. Th r.: 
would hal' be n nothing more. 

To 'our know led e were the peopl irritated for the e'Cpre -
sion used in tltat noti e ?-.<\ . When 1 wa. · a king people to stop 
the hartal many tolel me, a~ Lhey had been ailed I udma 11 , th \ 
would 110t open hops. 

Yonr efforts to g-et the hanal en Lied were not very ;'ll l'Ce',­
ful ?-A, No. 

• \ hy not ?-A. The rea n was there were olher people 
who \ ere tr ing to induce people Il t to open shop nel when we 
found thl out we organi 'cd volunteer and en a ed other men to 
tell p ople to op 11 shop and ultimately we were ucce ful. 

Q. '\Va there any foundation for lhe rumour' that tlle leade 
would he arrested ?-A.. 1 r th oth.:r leader did not hare that 
view bnt the p opl thou ,ht th t when \ e met at the Town Hall 'e 
woulel be arre. tcd. 
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of IOrit • r .1I1l' .\nd thH C'ontribut to the 

ur ?- . It n II' 'In to I that th L I. th 

Dr, Ansari 

Dr. An 'ari said h nd 
() th au. ck that had be n mao 
were di charging their dutie. 
in the cit was .. ivin~ the authoritie:. con id r bl nxiet) 
one thou ht the ' were inc r , bu l th ',I' made ~ me mi ta . III 
d >ali ft Ivitb tbe people. They c\ , ired LO re. lort' order in Ih city 
hy the use of for . 

1)0 you think there \Va' a 'how lIf military force? 
A. It wa not that which they Ilhjected. Th thing wa , in dew 

()f the 'itate of the public mind tli patrollll1g of tbe treet wa not 
de Irabl b :!cau ' e it produced jll I Lhe ()ppO~iLe ' /feet . 

Q. T th ught from th' voinL of vi " It of the ,cuple of the we'll, 
",be patr IIing (If the treet seem ' to be an iodi a ,Ion tb t th < IIIIH.1-
.. iti intended to maintain order ? 

'Ye . ir. It is not thaL that J que illn but it i the ff ct 
whi h wa produ ed on the mind f lIlt' ma~ I" • nd it mu til .., 

een known to the authorities that it produ ed 'u"h an elf ct. 

If the rna. 'e were di po ed to be p aceful and Il , t 
indu! e in violence why hould Ihe ohjecl to it ? 

.\. 'nley felt that they had bt: n treated dly and in lead or 
adopli. a encilialory attitude. lJj r a a how of forc and lha 

wh they r t it 
De III an to ugge t t at lh ilit r.\ or the P lic LOok 

.tip a provecatit.' ttitude? 
A. 1 am not all ging that at It. 
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Q. I am -ather truck with th readin witP which rumour 
arc ac epted ilcre ? 

A. I do ot think there \Va anything pcculiar in them. Ru­
mour Iltart almost everywhere. 

Q. In th i . ca e there have 1 cen ven' manr arr·t though 
the rumour ~ em to havc b en unfounded ?' • 

A. I thi! k tbe arrcst of th leaders a.t Amritsar waQ rcsIJollll ihl 
for thi., 

• Hav vou anI' doubt that the men in the crowd wer op­
pOlled to the open ing o'f 'hops ? 

A. J ad mvs If t(J rel)rimand peopl' mam' (ime~ who, J knew. 
did nol walll tl at shop houJd be opened . ' 

Q. Din it not ari~e from the disorderly portion of the clowd 1 
A. But I luust say one thing : r did not 'ce thc e people u ing­

an force or thl'eatenin~ people or doing any such thing. 
[t might have bcen done and you might not haVt: seen it? 

A.. But we were all working all the time in this connection Md if 
il was u, it must have been brought to our notice, 

Q, As a I. 'I'-abiding itiz \I do you olJject to a lIlan who was 
prnvenLin" otb 'rs from closing t heir shops being arrested? 

A. The .lrre t it elf in normal times would not be objectiona If> 
but at a time Ilk!! this \Vii n tile least little action Wag' liable to 
magnifi d, th i!< action on the rart of the authorities was very inJUdi­
ciou . 

But if \ '0 11 don't arre~t one man ~ou encou rag hundred of 
other ? 

A, Bllt Ull that day all the .'hop~ in th place !tad already been 
op ned and hu iness wn. goi llg on and there was no fear of any thin 
untowards happening. In the morning al. 0 we saw several people 
so tellin r peopl':l but we talked to them and got them dispersed and 
nothing hapPl:tled, 

Q, You h d some trouble in conne tion with the Ramlila affair? 
Yes, he trouble arose in on equence of the al1thorities 

being very mu h unfa,' urable to the Hindu community and they 
rc t!nted it Ilnd ob erved hartal for orne (0 or 11 day . 

0, It wal-. 1 beJiev ill 1916. A. Ye , ' 

Haziq-ul-Mulk Hakim Ajmal Khan 
I xamin d by Lord Hunter th 'Hakim aheb said th t he did not 

vow, He had no personal knowled of the­
They a ked the people not to observe bartal on 
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the 6th but the people in tbeir t ttl 
India did ob er\' .\fter tl.e 10th h with Ur .• I . r 
tried their be t to g t th , hop op ned. Til firin 'I. th 1 th h 
saw with hi own Whil ht: was c min rout uf th Town Hall 
he awa num er of men oming from tht: Billimori.1 id at:t fUl • 

ning pac and the}' w rc fir d upon h' a nllm r of , 'n, whom h· 
tl,ought wt:rc Poli emcn. proh hly 10 prt: erll th '0) " .n 'omin" I 
that ide. At th t time h did nut set: anyon!! Ihrowlll~ ;tun . H · 
could n t t:fl if they had . n ,thing in til ir hands. H did not 
anyone bein<r killed or woundt:d. Hi. imprt:s ' jolt was that firing had 
been d ne 0 t:r theIr ht:ads. Tit ffi inl within tht . IVIl hall h d 
llot glv n lhe ordt:r to tire and he did not s • Qr h ar lr \. Il(' to giv • 
the order to tire. Furth'r questioned Hakim ':th b -, ,n Ill' ::tw tJ1C 
gun. he ow the men and lht: firing. 

Que tioned by Mr. J usti e Ranken wim ·s~ ~aid u n' r. ns fI 

had ac mpanied him to th town hall and was :tt tha t IImt \ ithin. 

The Hakim aheb wa then namllled at great I': n~tb by Sir 
Chimanlal ctal\'ad . He . aid he and his famliy were ' Ilt' oldest ill­
habitants of Delhi . He exe;:rcist'd. he.said, ~ome iutlu l""l (' (IV r th 
people. Hi ide;:a was that if the in id 'nt at the tation h d not 
happen;d there would ha\'e u en no trouble in Delhi :lI all. 

Q. an you tt'll mt: what wert~ the caus s which (,lad it pos~ i. 
ble (or these t:vc nts to happen ? 

A. Since;: Delhi became th Imperial city political movements 
began. Through the medium of newspap rz, as ociations .1I1d 
mertin~s attempt~ were made to awaken the people;: 111 .1 legitimate 
manner and elTorts werp. also make to makt: people und rt,tllnd wholt 
was goin~ on in the world. 

Q. What was the attitude of tht: local authoriti s towards these 
movements ?-A. They did not like tht: e movements. 

Q. What do you mean ?-A. Tht: Chief ommissioner, I 
mean Mr. Hailey aDd the respon ible officers of the Police did not 
like these movements. 

Q. Naturally they did not lik the 1 aders who started this 
move meot in Delhi ?-A Yes. 

. They did not like the idea of the ongress being held 
here ?-A. They did not so far all am aware. 

Q. Did thi create a tension twet:n the authorities and the 
publi and their leaders 7- Ye -

9 Th n came the Rawlatt Bill agitation following on that? 

A. Yes, this came along. But in the meantime we had great 
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difficulty in holding publi meetings and that al u irritated the 
people. 

Difficulti s were crt:ated in the way of your getting place ? 
. We were nut allowed tu hold meeting at places where we 

thpught we should do. inct! t~e edai Meetmgs Act was pro­
mulgat d we could not hold meetlO's but even before that, we had 
great difficulty. 

Q. ince when has alonel Beadoll been Dt:puty ommi!! ion- . 
t:1' ?-A. He had been here before I dhi became an Imperial City. 
His administratil.n of 1unicipal nllalrs has been very harsh and 
people ere very louch annoyed 'in conn ctien with his acti n \Vllh ' 
n: ard to the Ramlila procession. Various prosecutIons were tarted, 
one was against Mr. Asaf Ali aud another again t Pundit ekiram~ 
for addr ssing some meetings. But they were acquitted. 

Q. _ 1\ this had produced a cIJ>nsiderahle tension between th 
authorities and the tJublic ?- A. cs , 

Q. Then in connection with the Rowlatt Bill . there w a 
general opposition tbroughout India to the e Bills?- . Ve. 

~ It was oppos d by almo. t all the member. of the indian 
Luglsl tive 'ouncil ?-A. Ve. 

. Q. And in COlin ction wi th tllM there wl::re prote ·t meeting. in 
Delhi? 

A, Yes. I took part in those meetings. 
\ hal was the attitude of the authoritie. with regJ\rd to tf i 

matter ? 
A. 1 have no particular knowledge a to their attitude with 

regard to this matter. 
( , A u n:sult of that the peo pl were prone to view witb sus­

picion any act of the officials ? 

A, tt had been so for sometime-for a month or two before 
March. 

Q. Do you think that the tension of feeling tween the 
authorities and the people contributed in some measure to tb& 
unfortunate events of larch and April? 

, Yes, in some mea ure it was one of the factors. 

Tn reply .to .further .que tions ,the Hakim aheb gave an accoun$ 
of the negotltltlon whIch pa. seG between th . authorities and the 
I ader with regard to givin back the dead bodies of persons who 
had been killed on the previous day the 30th:. Match. 
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Examined by Lord Hilmer. he aid that there w a lucce ' 
ion of meetin~ at Ameit r during the month of eb u r 

and March. The agitation taned by dtya~al and Kichle 
invited all Hindu and Mahomedlln in politic. Two memo 
bers of the local C n rC" Commille~ were on their tei I. 
There wa 'hanal" 011 the 30th. March but there tv no 
disturbance. The local Congre Committee wa agaiun the 
o\),ervance of "hartal" on the 6l h. of April but at the la t moment 
Ki hlew all I Saeyap I C:Ulle and brought about the hartal. He 
\ arued th~ Officer CommandlOg and kept troop in readine . 
But 11 0 action wa found neee ary. The Police a ted with gre t 
forbt'a rance. There wa no attack made upon them and they 
avnid~d comin" 10 contact wi th people. After the 6th of April 
thing eemed to be work i n~ up to ome kind of mischief a nd the 
leader~ were dis ipating the mob with a view to, as he thought, 
ome kind of concened action to paralyse Government. But. they 

did nOl encourage any Immediate act of violence. On the 9th. 
April, when the Ramnabami proce iOIl wa pa ing along the 
Allahabad Bank "here he wa eated. the mob was very ci vil and 
whell they aw witne . the band in the car played "God save the 
K ing". Afterward only a number of Mnhomedan stullent mad 
some demonstratiOIl by clapping hands and marc/ling like Turki h 
aldier . 

Deportation of Kitchlew and Satyapal. 
1r. Trving then de cribed the tep to deport K itchlew nd 

alyapal. They were invited lO witness's bungalo\v and were removed 
in it mOlor car tt) Ohara msala, on the l oth of April. He then wen t 
to office and had been ther~ only for about half an hour when 
Mr. Plomer, (D. S. P.) came rid ing with the new that crowd 
wer e ollt"cting in the Aitchison Park. He found the telephooe 
OOt worklOg and theo went out on horse-back. At the foot of t he 
rampart of the foot·bridge (which lead to the Civil line) be found 
a picket of z Indian and 3 Britl_It roldiers and in front of them 
\Va ,,\'ery angry cro d. He: then we I away. In the mean lime 
the crowd had to be fir d upon nd wa pu hed back over the 
raih ay lioe. He came back and found a yery threatening rowd 
facing a small picket. H e wa rather reluctant to give order to 
fire but ultim tely had to do so. 70 sbots were fired . Thi wa 
at about Z P.M. By that time the National Bank had been com­
pletely destroyed. 

·f 



'.,50 £VID.c:NOE OF MR. IRVING , . [LAHOR}; 

The JalUanwalabag .MeetjDg. 
Witness t l,1en narrated the subse~uent evem$ of th.. • "'lot .and 

destruction of property; Governmellt and private. 1 ,... 011 the 
lltb and 12th. there was practically nothing. 011 tl . 3t h he 
said t he sit uation cont1l1ued to be critical. 

O. What wa the at itude of the mo toward the a ,I" Iritie ? 
A That the "Siro;!r' was at an end. The general run~our 

\Vas, as I was informed, that Government was no ionger in control 
of the situation. 

Witness further ~ai d: They proclaimed from 1 ditferent pace 
that 110 meeting would be allowed. He then n' rrated tbe gentle (!l!) 
fneasures that had been taken to di perse the mee ting at tlle 
,hllianw~labagh. He added that as a result of Ih i hootiog the 
*hole rebellion il) collapsed. Not only was the crowd fired upon 
and dispersed but it s elfect was felt r hruughout t he district. People 
Rt first believed that Governmenr was p:tralysed and could do 
not hing but this Cl me as a disillll~ior.meni. 

O. Can you form any opi ni on as to the intentiOIl of the mob 
wit I) ~er erence tot he Govel n l1lC'nt ? 

A. The mob st!riously thought t hat it had a chance f beating 
Jovernment. ne of t he:: ring-leader u ed to say 'let us Ii h It 

out.' That wa~ the feeling from the l oth to 13t h. 
Witness said further: After thi Ihere was \lothing of a 

eriolls nature reported. Various fal e rumours were spread but 
he re eiv('d a great deal of loca l help ill counteracLing tllesc. 
Martial Law was proclaimed on the 151 h. He had 1I0t applied 
for it. 

Q. What was your opinion as to its nece sity? 
A. I thi nk it was quite nece sary. As a matter of fact, it 

"ipso fa to" existed from the lime the Milit:ary took control of 
the ituation. It was very necessary. . 

Q. Uuder the Martial Law what was your position as Deputy 
Commissioner? 

A. .1 regarded myself as adviser LO the Military Commander 
and I was al 0 report ing to my own superiors. 1 wOlIlJ not ask 
for power to be divided-one or other, must be io charge. 

Q. Give us your view 35 to who was really responsible for 
these di turbances ? • 

~. The people of Amritsar was responsible and people who 
rai . ed the feelings of the mob to the pitch they did. 

Q. You meau moral responsibility ?-A. Yes .. 
Q. In t hat sense yo.u mean people were irresllonsiQle although 

it was no part of their intention that the acts of violence should 
follow? . .• 

A. Well , yes. I told Dr. Kichlew that he was etUng in 
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motioo force held not c lllro!. 1 do not think oy of lh 
neople at any time in! nded violence. They intended to t lef 
Gov/,rnmeot 0 as to . ubmit to th"ir dem od . 

\Vitness said further that one or two of the men 
members ot the Ary maj ;lod a n orj.!'ani ation it s mQr 
ulky but he had no report against them. The people \ ho did lne 

lootmg were Ka hmiri Mahomed n I Hindu I K halriya n other 
He tronJj:1 u peoted they \ ere organi ed under leaders. 

Q. During the rebelholl ~ a there ny intention of ",e i I 
bat red tow rds the European ? 

A. Yes, it look I hal f rm from the point the crOI d w s 
turned back. It a umed the shape of revenge on uropeans. 

Q. Was any ho lility sh own 10 overnm ntorvaOI a uch? 
A. No. The Police were doing their duty io the ci~y bu 

Jhave 110 records of GovernmelJl ervant a uch bem • ttacked. 
The \ ilness then described I he various ill trument which had 

been used by t he mob to de troy property. He also ave li ~ 
of those who had been appointed by the Military Comm oder tQ. 
try certain cases. 

He aid a numLer of European children had been sent tQ 
the hill by the Military AUlhorilie aud the total amount ex ended 
on their passage and for their stay there and return was RS.30,000. 

The witness was then examined by Mr. Justice Ranken. 
ije said; There was 0('1 such ide as to attack Europeans during 
the two days of the hartal. He pas ed through the cily quite 
unattended and 0 had Mr. Jermain, the Municipal Engineer. 
Th re was persistent agitation upto the miJdle of March in COur e 
o f which inflammatory language had been used but there w;!, no in­
citement to riot or .aoytQiQ of that sort. There were rell'lOL 
sug e ' ltOn$ LO vioJ~flce \Vh~n Kilchlew poke of "u ing our 

; hands" but people often peak more violently than they mean and 
it wa noc their opinion that immediate violence was inLended. 
The leaders were against violence at tbe moment. 

Satyagr his and Violence . 
Q. SO far as the Salyagrahis themselve are concerned is 

it nOl t he case that they deprecated violence? A. Ye. 
Q. Who were the chief Satyagrahis at Amrit ar ? 
A. I shuuld think Kitchlew and Satyapal. But they were not 

distinguishable from the general agj~ators . 
. Q. I suppose you know the principles of that particular 

movement as protessed are cOlltJary to violence rather than in 
favour of it ? 

• A. y~ contrary to open violence. But any form of pas ive 
f"esistaoce would eventually come to acti.ve violence. 

~. Can you point to any fact which suggests that in the-
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beJinnine of April there was any plot on the part of anv Itratum 
of lOciety in Amritsar to encourage violence again6t Europe3M 
or to upset the local Government ? 

A. I cannot point to any existing before the loth of Aprrt 
The only thing that comes in any mind is the extraordinary speed 
in which various acts of violence were com 'ted, 1m,.. t ithin an 
hour. This appears to he I he work of orne form of organisation 

Q. Would you tell me which are the aCls of vio ence? 
A. Three banks which were fairly cl se together, a church 

and a school, were attacked and in another direction the telegraph 
oAice was attackeci the very first thing, Then there was an a;tempt 
to cut the Telegraph line which rather mark an intelligence. 

Q. But why do you think that the attack on the bank wa 
evidence of It previous organisation? 

A. I am not saxing that it is. I am puttinjt before you t hese 
facts which are compatible with orne kind of organi ation down 
below. It doe not of cour e follow that becaut'e there wa an 
attack on banks therefore there wa an or~anisa1ion but there \ a 
an organisrltion existing and e knew of it at the time of the 
Municipal election . 

_" Would it not be con istent with fact that the prol t in 
force against the deportation of Kitchlew and atyapal sponten­
eously developed into violence :l nd murder and incendiari m ? 

A. Yes, I think it spontaneously developed : it fl'artd up in 
a moment. I do not think people went out with that de igl1. 

In answer to further que lions witne aid immediately before 
their doportations Satyapal and Kichlew were constantlyaddre ing 
people. The order of deportation came from above and he was 
not given any speci6c rea ons. The e step ,ere not in it iated at 
his request for he had come only recently and had not felt his feet 
about at that time. As a matter of fact he did not ml ke an 
recommendation , he was simply reportin~ things a. they were. 
At one time he thought he could get Kichlew to be rea onable. 
He had as a maUer of fact quite early a ked (the Government) to 
usp nd action again t Kichlew to ee if he could brio him round. 

He knew nOlhing about these orders being in cootempl&tlon before 
he received them. He only knew that their conduct was under 
consideration of the Government. n the evening of the oth 
when he got the order of deportation , he recogni ed the possibility 
of orne di turbance due to the deportati ns and provided ,for three 
limes but unfortunately ten time!f happened. 

Events of the 10th. 
In reply to questions put by ir Chimanlal Setalvad \vicnes 

aid that he was not io any manner connected with recruiting 
from 190 to 19J7. He had no knowledge as to bow recruiting 



I. ~o : 19) BEFORE HUNTER COlt/MITTE. 5.1 

was done. He a during that period in the Secretariat. At 
Ihe time he came to Amrilsar in February, Dr. atyapal and Dr. 
Kichlew were fairly popular I aders and their popularity rrew 
a the agitation grew. 

9: Therefore their deportalion tau ed resentment in the 
ind of the publi ? 

A: Well, it mi ht or it might not. When they rretted. 
Lala L 'pat Rai in 1907. the agitation absolutely eoUap ed. 

: That may have been o. But on the loth April in 1919 
wa o? 
A ~ Ye, [ \ a.s quite prepared for it. I was t kin .U 

pos ible precautions against it. 
0: \Vheo the crowd came on the first occa ion nur that 

brid e, they were coming to your place ? 
.0\ : Yes, they were coming to my hou e I understood. 

They were coming not to m ke any ordinary protest. When 
people come they come properly clad. But the e men had 
put off their pUllre and shoes and they intended violence. 

Q: It m,ight have been the sign of mourning? 
A: If it was mourning, it wa violent mourning . 
... : Their primary object was to come to you in conlleclion 

wilh the deportation ? 
A: Certainly in connection with it. 

o that day were you prellent at the two firing? 
.'\ : 0 , only alone. [ was pre ent at the econd DOt 

At the first. I refrained from giving the order to fire beeaule 
. I recognised two men trying to disperse the mob. Tbey did 

their be t to disperse the mob. 
Q: One was Mr. Gurudayal Singh? 

him. 
A : Ye. 1 met him in court but otherwise I did not know 

Q: He tried to re train the crowd at considerable risk? 
A: Yes t I observed that myself. 
_: This gentleman was arre ted on the 29th and kept in 

custody for a moulh and a hair ? - A : Ye. 
Q: He wa brought in handcuffs to Lahore and laken over to 

various palee ? 
A: That 1 do not know. The investi, ation went out of 

y hands. I know he wa brough to Lahore. 
_: He was put up for triall-A: Yel. 
0: A a r~uJt he ot acquitt ?-A: Yel. a: This affair created considerable resentment in Amrit ar? Il 
A: It might ave but I do not know. Gurudayal Sing said 

hat people laughed at him and said that as a reward he lot 
.arrested. 
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Q: General Dyer arrived on the morning of I e 11th? 
A~ Ye,eveningofJllh . When he clime tbeCommi ioner 

hand d over the admini Iration to him. 
Q: I want 10 understand thi : "Ihe COClmis ioner lold 

the fficer commanding that he wa 10 consider him elf ill charge 
of the Military siluation and lake what-&ll,er teps he though~ 
necessary to establish civil control".-Was I hi aid 10 the Offic~r 
Commanding or to General Dyer? . 

A: It was aid to both, 10 the M:ljor commanding Ihe It p, 
and to eneral Dyer. . i 

At that time Martial La\ had not been proclaimed? 
A: _ 0, but it exi lI~d. . 
Q: I want to know what he mean by II being in char ge 

of the whole thing." I il Ihdl Mililary law had been e tabli hed ? 
A: 11 WllS an announcement of Ihe fact Ihat the Civil 

administrar ion wa IInequal 10 the ta It of pre erving pc:. eo' 
0: For that th v need not have handed OVCI the admini • 

tration 10 the Milil ary"? 
A: The statement is a confes iOIl of the inadtquacy II the 

part of the Civil authoritie to maintain the King' peace any looger 
Q.: It look a if the Civil aul hor1l1 did not exercis any 

contr I bUI left everYlhing 10 the Mililar ? 
A: The Militarv officer were directed to p'e erve p a e. 

It \Va not a case of the Civil authorities laking the help of Ihe 
Military. You cannot for example ask soldiers 10 hool. ~Oll 
could t ell the soldiers that y II are unable to carryon and the 
should at their' discrel ion take whatever mea ures I hey thought 
neces ary. 

( : The effect of it was to proclaim martial law on that date? 
A: It a so praclicall y. 1t announced the existence of 

Martial Law under the old common law , 
Jallianwala Bag Meeting-

Q: The editioll~ Meeting ACI WII extended to Amritsar 
on the 13th ?-A: Ye, on the morning of the 131 h. 

Q : The proclamalion that you referred \0 was with 
reference to thi ? 

A : Yes, under the Common iilit ry Law. not under the 
Seditiou Meeling Act. 

13th wa Ihe day of the great:Bai akhi fe tival? 
A: Ye. 
O' Many yeo pie from out 'de come to Arndt ar on that !lay ? A; Yes. think on that particular day people came not to 

a very large eXI ent becau e ci"il picket topped village, and 
advi ed them not to come. In t he ordinary course tbey come. 

Q: You have seen the place where the meeting took place? 
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A : ~1 i \Va pointed out to me. 
g: It i I what lo~ I in place?- . Ye. 

~ It i ~ rrouuded by buildings ?-A: Y • 
Q: T,ltrt. . re four small or uin! to the ~ .den ? 
A: Ther .. are four m II nd Ile fairly large, 

The aClUal place wher the meeling a held wa the 
outl~;n extr t' mll ? 

' " • Ye o lamnot ureofit . 
The pia e where the Militar arne lid t od w. at 

thenorth?- ~\: u . 
. Q: 11 a rail'ed pot '·,- A : Yes: 

): Tha place wher ttl mil itary I(lod 1\13 at II COt, tderahl 
di allCd from where the meetin~ \II held ? 

A: VI: I a f" ir rlist:lllc~ . I wa not t.hele aL the lime but it 
\\'a f\olnled lit t 1Dt! . 

0: 1£ ha. never been ugge ted t hilt t he meet ing eit her 
threatend the Military or did :lOvt hing of that !orl ? 

A: J do IIOt know whether the MIli ta ry will uggest that 
o r n OI. 

.• In t he official pa loers, 0 far as you have been able to .e, 
no sHgl!estions have beell made ? 

. . I co uld nol really have seen 1-1 1\ that. • 
0: It has been admilted that the le wd was not ordered to 

dispe;se before they were fired on ? 
A: gam 1 mUSl lell you, hat 1 have not seen all those paper. 
Q: The ta lement is: "He did nnt tell Ihe people th.llf 

the did not disperse he would hre bUI at onoe proceeded to di,~ 
per e the crowd by tiling ?"-A: Yes. 

g: Firing was dOlle' at ollce, as soon '" the Military c: me an Ci 
5:1\ lhe meetin g.and ac<!ording to yo ur informalioll aboul ;ion 
Wt!re killed ?-A: Yes, mOlt! might have been lVounded , 

U· J lIlIder~tood YOll to say I hat l he obj ecl of Ihis ,a I 
strike lerror into the heaTt of the people? 

A : I never :;aid ~O. 
g: You cOllveyed the idea whell you say thal when t h is \Va • 

d ne the whole rebellioll collap ed . 
A : No. I wa speaking of what actually happened. I was 

not altenlpling 10 read t he itualiou but 1 lold you as a fact the 
rebel lion collap ed. 

Q: 0 tar a you know, it ha never been ugge ted that the 
cir ulll~(ances (m the spot wt!re such a 10 neCeli itale firing?­
Jrre peclive of the lace Ihat it wa a prohibited meeting? 

A: I ave nOI had any correspondence on the subject. 
._ I put .it to you again: the re was the idea that Govern ­

ment was paraly ed, t hat Government would do nothjng~ in order 
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to disposseas the public mind of this idea you thought it was nee -
sary to re.ort to ruth Ie. firing: If what you have said means any­
thing it means I ha ? 

A. I do not know. 1 have told you what hap~ned as a 
matter of historical fact. 

Q. 'You put th t as a justificatipn (0 .firjng. 
A. It i. not my business' to justify. I give yo I the aClual fact. 
Q. Was it not really I hi : I hal bt there wn thi~ ide 

that the Government was paralysed, I hat I he GO\'el nment C( uld do 
nol hing, therefore you thought it neee, ary 10 make the pe04lle 
realise t he truth by killinll 500 men at one 51 roke ? 

A. 1 do not know what wa in the miu<1 of t h Military offie!;r 
who carried out this action. I have simply fied to iv you lact 
as I know them. 

The OrawliDg Order- I'JoggiD, aDd StJamlag. 
Q. You have lold us I hat CI awling order was i ued 

on Ihe ~olh ?-A. Yes. 
Q. There are hOll eon hOlh sides ?-A. Yes. 
Q. A large number of thtlll ?- A. Yes. 
Q. Had you any information as to wh thad hal"pened to 

.those persons who lived in the e hou ~e ? 
A., They were expected 10 nay al home. 
Q. If they had W III ed 10 go out they had to conform t I hi 

order?-A. Yeo, T think o. 
Q. Is it not a fact Ihat certain per om; who were IInder arres 

and who were taken thr(\ugh that ~lleet had to crawl throllgh ? 
A. Yes, I IInderstand that wa what happened. I <1" not 

know who Ihose people are. I was lold it was accidental and W2 

not intentional. 
Q. Can you tell u who t hev were ? 
A. 1 shollid think the MililalY might be able to tell you. 

They were ill Military custody. 
Q. You have told us there wa~ flogging in Ihe treets ? 
A. Yes. 
Q. I it true t hat a regula r fl ogging platform as put up iu 

the rreet ?-A. I suppo e then, was. 
Q. \Vas the:e an order requiring people 10 l.sam every 

European ? 
A. No, there wu an orner to . alum the General when h 

passed but no order as re~ards European as such. 
O. That i not I rue? . 
A. I have never hurd of it. llhillk the General brought it 

to my notice and to Ihe be. t of m recollection, the order a. as 
regard the General Offi er in un if 01 m. But I am not quite ure 
about this. 
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Q. W n; pe<lplo punisbed for no obeying? 
A. J thm 5 me people were punl hed by the Milit ry 

authorities ith con6nelb Dr for hort period. 
Q. Were tbey flogged? 
A. I think ~omc: people were gi CD loth days impti onlllcnl 

(or not salamin. It wa a military que: tion. 
. g. You a th ( ' 011 the l11h and the 13th th mob was in 

IlOlie ion of the city: why do you say tbat? 
A. Becan e they were. 'Ve covered no more of the city tban 

we could march into. 
Q. 'Vuen you lay t hat peo ple aid that there wa Hindu­

Mahomedan Raj, dId you hea r t h t yourself? 
A. No, people aid to me tho t was being aid in the city. 
_. Certain tribunal were consti! uted prior to the d Ilir lioll 

of Martial law ?-A. Yes. 
M y I know under what authority • 

. '\. I am afraid I canDot toll you that, 
_. I mean tbe ummary (lourts ? 
A . Ye I I can't toll you. 
_ . Have you any statemellt !o show how many people were 

.arreated and never brought to trial ? 
A. They were all brought to trial. There was of course one 

cia of people who \vere brought in very largely- a class of wander­
ing ·adhus. Their cases required to be ex.amined and when it 
wa dOllO, those against whom nothing was found were let off. 

Pundit Jagat Narain then examined witness :- . 

Q. Was not recruitillg one of the predisp sing cau e of the 
trouble? 

A. I considered recruiting and I considered against it ali ' 
contributing cause for , he reason that trouble came from people 
\vho had not been recruiteci. I said it came ne ither from the people 
who had been recruited nor from the disl rict where recruiting was 
"' igorou5. (Questiolled furth!:r ) 1 said it was a serious contributing 
<:ause and people who were recruited neil her rObt: nor complained. 

Q. Was not I he income tax raised very high at this time ? 
A. Ye I under the new ACl there was a considerable raee. 
Q. Am 1 10 understand Ihal "'Part from Amrits r, tho e 

perSQOs who were affel.ted by recruiting. did not form p2rl of the 
mob that /toe out of hand ?-A. . 

Q. But that is not applicable 10 any other d istrict ? 
A . I am not in a po -ilion 10 S y. 
Q. Is it no a fact that every city and every district had to 

(Ulllish a certain quota of men? 
A. I do nOl think any quota was asked for from Amrit ar. 
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But I think they were a king r'lf a di trict quota and the peopl 
were II ked to find tho e meo. 

_ 1f there was any deficiency-If any Lambardar failed to 
supply the requi ite number? 

A. He was often suspended and a better man appointed. 

Pla.tform Tioket Agita.tion. 
III reply to furt her questions witnes ~ that at t h t t101& 

people had made a complaint of the fact that no platform ticket 
were issued to Indian wherea European had been allowed to enter 
the tatlon without any ticket. Witne said th!s action by the 
railway authoril ies was n il account of limited pilce. The people 
said that they were not beiujl treated like hum n betng . 

~. What is t he worst t hat you can ay about I his :;gitatlOn ? 
A. The worst that I could ~ay was that it was an agitation. 

But really the worst of it was rhat the agitators were tryin~ to 
show 10 the people that lhe Government were acting in :; m:mner 
regardless of the intere t of t he people and without proper 
consideration towaros the people. 

Q. You thought that idea was wrong? 
A. Ye~, it was a matler whi h concerned the railwayauthori . 

ties owly. 
g. You find ... 11 over India, wherever there is the ~. tern 

platform ticket, J IIdians are ompelled to buy t hem and urope:m 
are exempt from It ? 

A. I have very lillie experience of it. 
Q. Was there anything lI f the nature of anti·Go\'ernment or 

nnti·Rurop an feeling between the 30th. March and 6th. April. 
A. There w s a good deal- I annot ~ay anti.European but 

it was anti-Govern ment. 

rower? 
Am T to undersland that thi ' was the feeling of the 

A. Well, as far as I can interpret their feeling' from I hell 
actiom. 

said ? 
' ViII yon kindly sa 2 or 3 sentences a 10 what \Va . 

A. T have not come armed with e tracts. omeb1c1y aid the 
British are hke monkeys. 

_ upposing one dislike a certain action of the GO\'emment 
r Cel tain act pa sed by Government and he wants to have il 

repealed: he 3gilate lor it: and if he tell in hi . peech this 
action of the G vernmelll is wr ng, would you call thi agitatioll 
anti. Briti h or anti-Go\'ernment ? 

A. ou will see ~hat from the aCl\I3\ extracts that \\'iIJ be 
placed before you. 
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I \ allt t have i fr n Q, You h<ld 

you, 
A. Y Oll will f! the cartoon : He of \ hich \ a bl 'Ie er· 

pent alld it wa! aid thi wa tht: reward whi h the people A'OI f r 
all I heir enriees in 1e \ ar . 

Q Do yOIl think it IV S con6ned In 'mit ar alone or th. t 
fe liJlg was haTen , y people all o\'er In<iia ? 

J\ . It \ a cpr, ainly uoi"er 31 but it IHvhete t ok • u h 
viOlent form as at Amdt. ar. 

Q. 0 tl\'e 6th, nobody wa maltreated? 
A. No. 
_' Then on the qth, tbe day of Ramnabami, ,ere not the 

l~rQceedings q "e orderly in pite of the fact that the Polic~ \ , 
very few in number -A. Yes. 

Q. Thi \\Ia the occaSlOI1 when people ho\lIed Hindu·Mu .• :1I . 
man ki Jai and there was fratefni. ation ?-A . YeG. 

_ Are you or are YOIl IIot in favour or Hindu M. hom dill 
unity ?-A. It depends on what ubjecl I hey combine. 

Q. If they give UP religiolls animosily and frate,ni e? 
A. T;lm ce rtainly not a~ainH it. 
Q . Will you favour slIch a thing ?-A . Ye . 
Q. You will prai e . ho e who are wOlking for it ? 
.>\ . Cerrainly 
O. And therefore when vou fiud Ihat Hindu lire ,akill~ 

wate;:-given by Mah c) medans and eac h joining ill the other's fe , 
livals. i it not a III tte r that shonld give you entire s3ti faction ? 

A. \Vell. it would give entire satIsfaction, if I did not fea the 
moti"e underlying - it had a sinister purpobe behind if. 

Q. YOIl did not like their joint polilical action ? 
A. J have no objeclion to thaL 
Q. You did Il Ot like that they should give up their quarrel 

and I k .. up a f " "1Inon attitude wit11 l egard to certain p6\itical. 
matter ;> 

A. 1 do not object to It but the facl \Va that the converted 
their rl!li~ious ceremony iuto a pol itical affair, 

Q. \VII I not that very frat trnisation on religi ous occasion be 
evidence of I he ~incerity ot the peorle ?- A. Yes. 

Q. You are 1101 one I,f tho e who believe in the principle of 
.divid .. and rule? - A. No. 

Wltlle s further said he had noticed that in the Montagu­
Chelmsford Report it h~d been aid. tI .:at the ne proof t hal Indian 
were unfi t for comp'ete e f-government was the quarrel of H indu . 
and Mahomtdan. And i the people tTied to era e that blo'. that 
was to be eoco ... raged. Th t would be a ,.olitical mo\'ement bill 
I hat could not be helped. 
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Why were Drs. Kiehlew.ad latya,al deported , 
He said that Drs atyapal and Kichlew had not done anything 

1n puhlic to contra\'ene the order erved on them. 
Q. I want to know what is the immediate cause of their 

.. deportation ? 
.A. I am not well in a po ilion to ay that. tlUI there is one 

thing that· I represeotetl to Goveromeot': · I did not make any 
recommendation but I said that it ISh owed tflat Kichlew brough t 
about the 'hanal' of 6th April in hours time. 

Q. But that is not a serious thing (or which a man should be 
.deported ? 

A. No, my recommendation wa not the cause of their arr~ t. 
A a matter of fact, inspite of the (a t that they were prevellted 
(rom making public peeches, they were talking in pri ate meetings 
and making people ho tile. 

Q. You had no knowledge of it? 
A. Kichlew himself told me his intention was to change the 

lform of Government but he wi hed to do it by con tituti nal 
.agilat ion. But I pointed out con til utional agitation very much 
differed (rom what he did . 

Q. I just want to know whether between the 19th March 
and 1 th April there was anything objectiollable to justify the order 
of deportation ? 

A. Well, he practically onlered the hartal on the 6th. T!lis 
was one thing. 

Q. Bllt 0 far a the order were, did he do anything to' 
-contravene them? 

A. So far as I know-no • 
...,' From the bth up to the time I hey were ent for and 

eponed there was nothinl;t tangible from which you could draw 
the inference that the crowd would have recour e to violence? 

A, I did not et any such definite information. 
Q. Is it not a fact that on many occa 1011 when the common 

people feel aggrieved over orne municipal as es ment or municipal 
rder they go in a body to the Magistrate to lay their complaint 

,befo. e him ? 
A. Ye, they could come in a re peclful manner. 
Q. BlIt on the 9th you were nOl aw re of their demeanour ? 
A. No knowled or lJJe future. 
~ . If not, h did you conclude that on the :oth the crowd 

woulo come to you in a violent mood ? 
A I wa not going 10 take' allY chance. 
_ Cdll you tell the committee of anything done b the rowd 

.trona which a rea on able inrerence could be drawn that they would 
be violent? 
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A. Well, they kept their hands oft when thy aw the Police , 
They were sulky. From what happened elsewhere t thought 
it was quite likely that the budmashes of Amritsar would :attempt 
to over~awe the aUlhoritie - at aoy rate, the chauce would be-
good enoll~h ; the mob is always volatile, . 

Q. Under what I W yOIl were ju tified in declaring Ihe mob-
10 be ao unlawful a embly ? 

'.A: Section) 8 of I he Cr. Procedure Code (loud laughter) 
Q : A body or 5 mell pa iog the railway line become un-

unlawful a~ elllbly ? . 
A: I think I have given you the wrong s~ ion. •. 

Q : . is there any report to how lhat any fif the constable or 
the tl()ldiers who were stationed there \yere inj'ured by ones 0\1· 

the loth? 
A : If there was any report it i in Military record!'. 0 far 

a t he Police was coucerned, t here was no paper. 
\Vitne s funher said the number IIf the crowd on 'Ihe fir toea· 

ion must ha\'e been 2 or 3 thousand-it was a very large crowd 
coming in a hostile manlier. Of the live men comisting of the 
picket one had a reyolyer and the other a rifle. They fired on 
and 3 men were ki\1ed . He admitted that before any firing took 
plate, the crowd passed along the National Bank and other uild· 
ing bill they did not do any mischief . 

. , : So far as the secend fit iog was concerned , is it not · true 
hat the two pleaders who were trying 10 get back the mob [Old 

you not to fire ? 
A: That was when I did not give ordt"r to open lire. Tha/t 

was at the foot of the bridge and ( said I could not wait a momen t 
longer. 

Q: Is it true that certain shots were fired from the Tell!graph­
ffiee ide, when I he e pleaders were elldeavouring to per uade the 

III b to retire? 
.A : Yes, 1 did hear some shots. Very likely the men there 

were in serious danger. 
_; I think you will admit that up to this time the crowd 

or the majority of them had no lathies in their hands? 
A : I did not notice any lathies in their hands. 
Q : It' as when they had been driven by the fir t volley that 

they divided themselves into lhree grC)up and COllected bamboo 
and whatever they could get ? 

A: Ye, that was the crowd ' 0', yuu suggest. were peace-. 
fuJ. They went and burnt the bank and murdered Mr Thompson. 

Q : Do not think lb:<t I i!: 'illy way justify their action . 
What I want to kno is tbat :; or 6 persons ,,,,ere hot before Mr 
Thompson was murdered? 
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A: That is absolutely ulltru~. 
Q; Why do you say that i' You rely on Police repons ? 
A: Thebe facts Came Out in the trial. I can alii give you my 

recollection. 
~ Frum 5 P . M. on the loth oowards th,. crowd did 

1l0lhillg ? 
A. There was nothing left for them to do. 
Q. After 5 P.M. on the wth there has u t bee any attack on 

any person or property. 
A. Some Indian gentlemen will come and tell yoo: that they 

feared that a number of hou es were in ~reat danger. 
~. I am not talking of tho e ultra.loyalist. Were you 1n 

possession of facts thal any person or property was iujured after 
4-30 l' .M. on the loth upto the 1:;lh. 

A. I C:1Ooot tell YOIl. After the arrangement we had made 
they could not do it. My imprtssioll is that after the lotI, the 
,loot in J.( of the National Bank was going off and on: it did not go 
on' one day only. 

~ooted ? 
Can you give any tangible evidence that prope~ly was 

A. I cannot give you any. 
. Therefore whell you martp. that statement to at there was 

crit;cal situation because I here was serious danger of Amr' t ar 
.neing looted, what are the facts on which you based our oplnloll ? 

A. The people themsdves were trying to organise themselve 
'ttl resist the invasion. . 

O. Is it nOl because the Police had withdrawn and they 
want;d to keep watch and ward? 

A. I do not know as a malter of fact. But I will take it 
from you . (further questioned) My' information was that there was 
apprehension of the looting by \·illagers. It was based on reports­
( cannot remember if I have got any wrir ten report. 

. People r laced before you all sons of hearsay reports and 
your opinion i based on that? 

A. I think there was more than hearsay; but very largely 
that was the source of my informal ion at the time. 

0: You have spoken of excitement during tht' Municipal 
elecl~ns: Don't you think it appears everywhere? 

A: 1 shall think it objectionable wherever it occurs. 
0: You do not connect them in any special manner with 

what";ubsequently h~ppened in ~mrit5ar ? 
A: TQ a· certalD extent, yes. 
0: You have no Objection to this political activity? 
A: I have no objection to any political activity as such. 
Q: In your statement you say: "We found Hindus atteod-
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ng Mahomedao meetings and lahomedans heil) iven pi ces of 

prominence ill Hindu meetings: the hief link between the wo 
beiJlg alway this Dr. Kichlew". Wa it d. liked by the utho­
• ilies ? 

A: 
Q : 
A: 

unusual. 

I have no objection to it I ha,'e imply stated it 3S a fact . 
Was it looked upon with disfavour? 
It was not objected to ill any way. .I noticed it as being 

Q; It had nothing to do with hi deportation ? 
A: Not to my knowledge. Cc:r~ai nl y not . 
Q ~ 10 para 13 you av: ., rhe it uat ion had however begun 

to talte a threatening aspect. It was not t hat an immediate vio­
~ence was apprehended. 011 the contrar , the policy of the brains 
behind the movement appeared to be directed in the opposite 
direction. Their inten tion was to avoid coillsi n with the Poh e"­
Who were the brains? Kichlew and :laty p.il .? 

A. r did not know then and I do not k llolV now. 
Q. You did not know then to whom you referred as the brains 

of the movement ? 
A. At the time when 1 wrole this it seemed to me t hat there 

was some directi ng brain lJellind but 1 did not know who it was. 
Q. You are still of t hat opinion . that their object -.vas to 

direct the movement in a direct ion opposite to violence ? 
A. Yes. 
Q. W hal do you mean by threatening aspect? 
A. They form collective passive reSIStance which wanted to 

paralyse Government. 
Q. Why was it considered t hreatening on tha t date? 
A. Because such was the IiIu:Jy result that r anticipatc:d. 
Q. The ollly thing was that there was a general 'bartal'­

nothing else? 
A. I did not mean a general ' hartal.' meant persistent 

.attempt to misrepresent Government, wild rumours misreprescm­
ling the actions of Government, the ignorant people were getting 
more and more excited and every possible feature of the situation 
,vas such as to cause that idea to my mind. 

Q. This was going on tor the last lwo months? 
A. It was getting worse and worse without any ign of 

stopping. 
O. Was there dllring these dAys some special measure of 

misrepresentation ? • 
A. There were the grossest slanders on Government. 
Q. In your opinion aU sorts of passive resi.stance were to be 

deprecated ?-A. Yes, any collective thing of the kind. 
Q. Up to that ti me when you wrote this report, you had no 
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evidence before you that there were any plan of violeuQe eve,. 
contemplated by t he brains behind the movement ? 

A. As a matter of fact the matter was ·Iub.judice' • I wa 
really thinking of the coolph acy ca es then going on. 

Q. Anyhow at the time you wrote this report you had no 
positive evidence before you that any violeoce wa com em plated ? 

A. There is a difference between bavi n(\ evidence before 
me and not coming 10 a conclusioll . 1 refrained from coming to a 
conclusion as the matter was going on belore a court. 

O. You said jt ,wa .still doublul ? - A. Y . 
Q. Therefore it was doubtful 0 far a you were concerned? 
A. It had not been decided. 
Q. SO far as you were concerned, were you doubtful or not? 
A. J cenainly had not got all the evidence by any mean and 

therefore 1 had not made up my mind. 
Q. You had a confelence on the evening of the 9th ? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Were any draH ic measure sl1gge led ? 
A . No drastic measures were suggested . There was deep 

indignation but no idea of revenge. From the loth the matter wa 
in the hand of the Militarv al\l hori ties . 

• Oommunioa.tion with the Punjab Government. 
Q. Was the order of dellortation received by post ? 
A . It was received through a Police officer. 
Q. During these days between the 6th and roth was any 

communication received from Lahore by you or anybody t o your 
knowledge ? 

A. I do not remember 10 have received any written order. 
The Commissioner was down I here giving me advice. 

_ . Yo u re eived no in trucllOIIS from the Government of 
Punjab? 
. A. To the best ormy leco\lection, no. 

Did you consult Government official between these day ? 
A: J consulted the Commis ioner, nobody el e. 

Did you do it by lelter or when he came down there? 
A: When he came down there. 
Q : Upto the morning of loth there h d been no ign of 

enmilY towards Europeans as such ? 
A : I had not seen it as such. 

Promulgation of orders. 
Q: YOIl issued certain order~ ? 
A: Ye. 
Q: These order were sent the morning o f the loth to the 

3 Magistrates ? 
A: Ve I I gave them personally. 
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Q: Wa thi promutgated am n t the people? 
A: . There \\las no thns. 
9; They were not proOlul • ted amongbt the people f 
A : Toey were promulg ted by the agi tr tel who met the 

crowd, as far a he could. !:ie could nOl hIm elf he r a tho crowd 
would not lislen to them . . 

: You thought that one hour before ou d lared tb 
sembly unlaw ful, It would uy to cr the line? 

A: That i~ hardly the legal lVay of pUlting it. I i ued the 
order under 'c:ction 1441 that allY felsoo who di beyed nyorder 
become an unlawful a emhly, had DO time to look at the rul· 
Illgs. . 

Q: You think that ection 144 appli 5 to the ca e ? 
A. Ihave not u ge ted it did. I hav not had it argued 

before me. 
Paod J 3g3mar ian then read out a portion ot the sectioQ, 
Q; According LO you there ~as not ufficient time to promul. 

g' e thiS order bdorehand alld If lhe crowd would have hstened 
LO theMagislrate then IhlS order would have been promulgated? 

A. Yes. 
Firing at the Bridge. , 

9, Now coming 10 the Ii, iog at the oridges when you ar;ived 
there was pickets stoned in your presence? 

A. Y s. I also was stoned. 
Q. You wenl ujJ to the crowd. 
A, I Lried lO do it but my hor e would not face the crowd. I 

did not go inside the ranks of the crowd-they were round me on 
my right hard, on my Idt hand and rather behind me. 1 "M 
partially surrounded by the crowd. 

In answer to funher questions witness said at the time when 
firing was opened, the picket was sLOned. There wa a econd and 
even a third stone throwing although he mentioned only one in 
his stat.ment . . !:ie saw a man being wounded in his pre ence at 
: be bridge. Tbe reason f0r not mentioning the other two was 
that he was workmg at great pre sure alld had to PUt ~own facts 
as concisely as he could. He ought to have mentioned these two 

bowing the rea on for firing but he was working at great 
pee ure. 

Treatment of W unded. 
Dr. Kedaroath' house was close lO the Zenana hospital. 

His information wa that orne wounded person were taken to 
"a bouse" , anci trealed there but he did not know whether it w 
Dr, Kedaroa h'. bouse or not. He did oot like to commit himself. 
He had never hcud of the allegation that when some wounded 
ere brought Mrs. Easdon \ as present and she said "The Police 

5 
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baH served you right, yon de erve il." It was a cowardlv and 
~alumnious statement. He thought that the estimate of 20 to 30 
killed and wounded was fairly correct. The procession wbic~ 
carried the dead bodies was a very big one an,t orderly one. The 
~'ice commenced inve riltation. on I he I Jth and he bimself went 
as far as the Kotwali. On the t 2th the leaders of the riot were 
arfeated. There was no disturbance on lZth. The PClOple 
obeyed his orders about buryin, the dead but with reluctance. On 
the I Jlh. he went in ide the city and arrested he leaders but there 
WI. no demonstration. no trouble. 

Afraid of being Mur4er.d. 
g. What are your rea ons for saying that the civil authorilie 

had no control over the city? 
A. Because our control extended practically as far as the 

rifle could go, as far as the t roo os could see. People were oollected: 
and no Magistrate, no official could go into the city withou a strong 
escort. 

(I). What was there to prevent you to go inside the city OD 
the ;rth. and 12th, to go inside the city and to your ordinary 
dutie ? 

A. Well , because I would he murdered like Bank Man3ger . 
g. And being afraid of being murdered YOIl and other persons 

in authority did not venture inside t he city? 
A. You may put it like that if you Iike,-The Military 

authoritie~ would not allow anyone inside the city. 
Q. What was there to prevent you to ~(\ in side the city with 

troops ? 
A. We did go but we could not always go with the aid 

of troops. . 
g. You cannot :!y if vou hid gone with trcops your authority 

would have been opposed? 
A. I cannot say: 
g. What do you mean by ayinll that you had to obey the 

Military authorities? Is it not a fact that every authority that 
you had wa!' derived Or conferred on you by 80me act of the 
Legislature? 

A. I take it from you.-Yes. 
Leave Aside the Oommon Law of England. 

g. Where is tbe aUlhority. under which you can suspend 
your powers ana hand over them to the Military authorities? 

A. There is the common Law of England. 
. Q. Leave a ide the Common Law of England. W.here i the 

provision in tl<le' Criminal Procedure Code which authorised , you or 
the Oommis ioner to hand over the administration of any city to 
the Mili ary authorities? 
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A. I do Dot think there il. 
Q. You referred to section 130 and 131. Wben you sked 

othe aid of the Military you had DO busine to suggest that the 
wbole malter should be entirely in their hands? 

A. No. but I don't like to quote the eOlion. 
Q. You canoot ugge t any ection under which you or the 

Commi iuner were authon ed to hand over the admim tralion ? 
A. It is rather difficult to point out legal autbomy but where 

the Civil authontie are un ble to control the situation and 
.guarantee peace and order, jt i their duty to a the Military 
authorities to take step if considered n ce sary to pre erves order. 

Q. I quite agree with you but that is uot the meaning of ec, 
129 and 131 . It does not say that you hould hand over the 
.administratloll to the Military aUlhoritie ? 

A. There was no civil administration at that time except what 
wa directed to the maintenllnce of peace and ord • We did no 
hand 0 er any civil admmi lration practically 0 called. 

Q. You could invoke the aid of the Military and oothi 
more. As a District Magistrate of 20 year experience, under what 
authority you allowed the Militar y to do all those things? 

A. What things, olher than maintenance of order and peace? 
Q. Many things, issuing of proclamations, doing hundi.d of 

-other things ? 
A. I am not arguing a ca e but my opinion is that the Military 

commander was justified in taking all measures neces ary to 
maintain public peace and order such as arresting people and 
dispening crowd. If he issued any order lor what he considered 
(be pre ervation of order that was not an extraordinary exerci of 
authority bUl ratht:r making it sure that his exercise of aUlho ity 
would not be sudden aDd oppressive. 

Q. But there must be some: authority from either the Govern 
meut or the Legislature? 

A. I am not acquaiDled with it. 
Mr. Miles Irving aid that 102 person were tried for an 

attempted Dacoity at the Tarntarn Tabhll. These men were me" 
by one Ill spector aud halt a dozen constables and they all ran away 

Q. It was not a very dangerous crowd? 
A. Ye, if they had not run away lhey would have looted. 
Q. May I know if they wer convicled for a n attempt at 

Jootiug or for waging war agamst the jog.Emperor ? 
A. 1 believe ' t was waging w • I could remember. 
Q. Is il not a fact bat if you bad tried them for dacoity, 

t'bey could DOt have been tried by court martial courts ? • 
A. 1 do Dot lhin" so. 
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g. Unless their attempted dacoity had been changed to wag­
ing war against the King, the Martial Court would have no author­
ity to try them? 

A. I donot think so. 
g: Electric light and water supply was cut off from the 

loth? 
A: Yes, in the city. 
Q: What was the justification ? A sp it of Tevenge ? 
A: As r~gards wat~r sup ply, there was Tumour that the 

water had been poisoned. Weal 0 did not use the water for "'e 
thou~hl I hert! might he nme ba is in it. 

g: Was it cut off frnm the Civil Line at any time? 
A: It was not cut off hut for a short time it was not uied . 
Q: I suppose you were not consulted about this order? 
A: I was consulted from time to time but in regard to this 

·matter I was not consul/ed-so far as I remember. 
In reply to further questions witnes said the electric upply 

was cut off to prev~n: people from raradin~ about and I 0 he ' 
did not know what they were going to do with the electric machi­
nery. 

g: How could the cutt ing of elect ric current prevent people 
from .dama~ing the elect ric plan t or electric appliance ? 

A: 1 do not press the particular motive. I say I cannol 
remember it. I know it wa thought a good thing that the cl.etric 
light hould be cut off . 

Q: Was not that order based on a spirit of revenge? 
A : Revenge i hardly the word. It was a sort of puni h­

ment. 
Q: Don't you think it wa like the punishment of the old old 

Nababi days ? Because 2000 persolls committed an offence, nn­
doubt.edly a very dastardly off~nce, therefore you thought that the 
whole city should be punished for that? 

Q: At that time the curfew order was in force: people could 
not come out after . P. M. therefore electric light would be all the 
more necessary to find out whether they were obeying tho e orders 
or nol ? 

A: There' were picket . 
Q: I want 10 know how the cutting off of the water upply 

or electric light would help in the least in maiot:lioiog peace and 
order? _ 

A: I cannot remember the exact motive which ihfluenced 
the Military Authorities in their decision. I think partly there was 
the Engineering reason-hydrants had been smashed, water was 
pouring out; and the other rea 00 was the rumour , that the water 
was poisoned. As regards electric light, the city was judicially 
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fund to ne in a tate of \ arfare-and If the Mili \ ry Authoritie 
re¥>rted to thi to brin the people to a more sner frame of mind 
they c1id nothing wro0l!. . 

Q: I there any record to ho\ how many hydlants had b en 
smashed? 

A: I d not know. Th Municipal peoole have n. 
Q: Had this allegation about street hydrants being rna. hed 

been eve.r out forward ? 
A: I think the Municipal Enginep.r told me that the hydrant 

\ ere sma hed . (Further que tioDed) 1 do not remem ber if the 
Engine r told me that the hydrant were ma hed on account of the 
ruml"'r that water had been poisoned. 

: Now, was any agreement taken from ome neople a 
Tarn Tarn that they would Dot take part in any polit ieal activity 
for Iht' next three vears and thilt if the' did th}' ould pay a 
fine f Rs 5,000 each? 

A: People there did make SlJ'11e kind of agreement. It w 
nOI clnne under my orders. 

Q: Could that agreement be produced ? 
A: I think it can. 
Q: SO far as your experience of 20 ve:irs as MagistralI' goes 

do ou know t hat except in cases of theft, unnatural offences 
. me case of rape, no convicted person is flogged under the ndian 
Peual Code t 

[ lio not remember . r never used the code the 
Q: Were vou never informed that a mel!ting W~S held on 

the 12lh and at that meeting it was announced by Ran raj thaL 
a se onc1 meeting would be held next day al 4 P.M. ? 

A. I did nor know in what exact form, but 1 heard that a 
a meeting would be held the next day. J did oot hear Hansr j' 
nam 

Q: He was the man who 5lIbsequently turned approve!'? 
A l Yes. . • 

, Q: He wal' that very mao wh n wa addressing the crowd in 
the lallianwlllla Bagh ? 

A: You put his name ill my mouth yesterday but I believe 
be was not. I believe another man was atidressmg. 

Q: Coming to thl' incident of the Jallian\\' Iii Bagh, did any 
erson of authority visit JaUiawala Bagh that day ? 

A: NOl that I know of. 
Q; To the be l of your knowle ge and belief nobody did? 
A: I do not know. I did nt)t. 
Q: \Vas any ambulance j>rovided for the, 13th ? 
A: I belie\'e no. . . 
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Q : a&j ~ny help given by the authorities to remove the 
dead and the oylDg to hoepital. ' 

A: 1 believe they were left to their friends. 
Q: Was any help given ' to Ihe wounded after the firing of 

the loth at 2 P.M. 
A. Yes, some people were taken away. The hospllal was 

close by and the Civil Surgeon was sent for from tb hospit l. 
Q: After this firing did you COD ident rea onable 10 m dify 

your curfew order which was pa sed at J 2 o'clock th day in urder 
that lhe dead and the dying might be removed ? 

A. I thought people would take away but they did n t, 
They were in a state of excitement . 

Q. You are not aware that any per 011 di obeyed the cu rfew 
that night? 

A. There wa noborly in the city to ay. 
Q. Tbere is no repol t of disobeying the curfew on th J tb. 
A. The troops went right back and left the city to it el . 
Q. Did it II ike any person in authority or to you I hat it 

wa absolutely necessary that some first aid wa's nece sary, in view 
of the fact tbat some 4 ur 5 hundred were killed and a very lalge 
number wounded. 

A. I do not know whether the General in authority t'DI vut 
a party or not. Perha~s it was considered unsafe. 

Q. Reasonably, it would have been unsafe for a lW'1 y 
of soldiers ? • 

A. I do not know but I found the Military Authoritie! 
making various arrangements for the safety of the Civil tal ion III 

case of further attack . In fact, it was 3'state of warfare, we were 
face to face with the enemy and it \Va 1Iot propo ed to senq out 
such parties. 1 think it would be a good thing to do if the il ua­
tion permitted it, 

Q. From 5.30 tu 7.30 110 help was rendered ? -
A. You should really ask the Officer who brought the troop 

to the city. I do not like to anticipate his reading of the situation. 
Q. You never inquirtd whether any of the persons belonged 

to the lespectable c1as ? 
A. Well I did. 
Q, Can you give the name of the per ons ? 
A. I cannot. I inquired whether there wa any re eClable 

lleople or not and 1 was told there were not. 
O. That information i based on bearsay and you had uot 

inquired into the matter at a\l. l • 

A. Most of my answer are based on hearsay knowledge. 
Q. I think it would be very easy to get the name of these 

IlC'fSons from Police records. 
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A. The Police kept a Dote of the Military runisbments. I 

have got my gures from them. But I do Dot know whether they 
have destroyed those paper or oot. 

g. Can you tell us whether i wa a return or written report. 
A. I am oot ure. 
Q. You are very vague to whether the e was any respecta' 

ble person or oot. 
. A. I asked the Police aod they id so. I did not go into the 

malter myself. 
Q. There were abvut 100 pedal constable? They were all 

pleaders? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Practically the whole lot of the pleaders. 
A . Yes. 
Q. If the Oi trict authoritie be allowed to get rid of Ie al 

practitioners from their district , political agitation would cea e at 
once or to a very large extent ? 

A. I am nOl sure. I am not prepared to ay 50. I think it 
might increa e. 

Q. Are the legal practitioner liked by the authorities ? 
A. Ye, they are on very good terms with the local 

Government. 
Q. I take it they wei e appointed special constable under the 

Police Act. 
A. They were appointed by the Military Authorities and I 

do not think they knew very much of the Police Act. I do not 
think the Police Act would be applicable. 

Q. The Military appointed them? 
A. Yeo 
Q. Except the Police Act is there any authority under which 

anyone could be appointed Special Constable ? 
A. There is a general common law in England under which 

any person could be appointed special constable. It was done 
after the promulgation of Martial law-I think it was done after 
the 15th. 

Q; What lVere their duties. 
A. They were supposed to keep a Beneral eye on what wa 

going on in the city and report to the Martial Law authorities. 
Q: Ho\ many miles had they to travel every day? 
A. The city is ooly hall a ile from the Gener I Head 

Quarters. 
Q. Was there a y written in uetions about their dutie ? 
A. The Martial Law Authorities might have thelll. I have 

oot get th m. . 
Q. You know it is a thlDg greatly disliked by eveTY Indian ? 
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• A. I do not know why thl;Y should. 
Q. PIe" e answer my question, As a matter of fact, the 

disliked thi ? 
. A. They disliked at first. Towards the end they rattier 
liked it. 

Q. These pleaders liked it? 
A. Yes, they were fint cal1ed Special Corstables and afterwards 

the Dame was changed to Ward Officers. 
Q. Therefore they would not be subject 10 ny rule and 

re~ulations under the Police Act ?-A. I hould think 110t. 
Q. In your opinion I here is DO difference between pecial 

Constables under the Police Act and Ward Officers under the 
Martial Law? 

A, There is no difference in the fune ions they were 
performing. 

Q. Nor any difference in punishment 10 which the \ ere 
liable ?- A. I do not know. 

Q. Is not a Special Constahle punishable for the same offence 
for which an ordinary constable is punishable ?-A . Yes . 

. ~ Sllecial Constable appointed under I he Police Act would 
be subordinate to Head Constables :lnd to the Inspector? 

A They were constituted under the Military AUlhnritie . . 
There·was no question of their heing put IIndel the Police. 

O. What was their ward dutie ? 
A. To patrol their re pective divi sions from time to lime .lnd 

report to the officers about what h:lppelled 
Q. They were ordered to report themselves three times a­

day?-A. Yes. 
Q. You consider this was liked by the pleaders? 
A, 1 do not say they liked it but they were a great deal 

reconciled to these, after relaxation. 
Q. Can you give us their names? 
A, I cannot, but you will get a list. 
In reply to further questions witness said that at that time 

the number of constables wa 200 or 300 and the strength of the 
Military at no time was less than $00. And of cour!e there was 
1,500 camo followers, but they were not available for military duty. 

Q. Then where was the need of appointing these pleaders as 
Special constables? 

A. You had better ask the Military autboritie. They ga\'e 
very valuable information. They could influence the people, they 
could get the best informati02' As a matter of fact, they did on 
e\'eral occasions very good service. They were a very useful body. 

Q. You then admit that they could influence the public? 
A. Yes. 
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Q. I put it to you these pleaders were appointC'd peoiat 

Constables because the aut hod ies wanted to puni h the e local 
agitators ? 

A. Well, the idea did Dol r:iginate with me. I cannot speak 
of the motive of the Militar officers. 

Q. A large number of C. 1. D. men were imported into the 
city of Amritsar? 
I A. I do n t ay a large number. The investigatioos were 
carried on by the C. I. D. But their str ngth I do not kno~v. 
• Q. It was the C. 1. D. who decided which case was to go to 
the Civil Conrt, which to the Special Tribunal, and t hey u ed t 
send ca e to the L egal Rememhrancer over your head ? 

• A. Yes, they sent cases direct to the Remembrancer and 
to us. 

Q. They were sending out cases to d ifferent courts for 
disposal ?-A. Yes. 

Witness further said that t he Mohurum was not a funeral 
procession in his d .. fin ition . At t he t ime of I ndian funeral processions 
people die! make noi ~e. 

Q. You said K ichlew said, "we will use our hands" - may 
I know what is the source of y our in formation ? 

A. Report of the special reporter of the G overnment. 
Q. Can that be made a vail ab le to us ?-A. Yes. • 
Q. What was the occasion and in what connection did he­

say that? 
. A . According to m v information it was at a meeting on· 

March I st in connecti on with th e Rowlatt Bill. 
Q. Are you aware of the fact that re~ pectable people \vho 

, were arrested were handcuffed in couples and were marched to 
the city and for hours they were made to sit in the sun ? 

A. I cannot -ay how far they were. I was not present at 
any such occasions you mention. I saw people were handcuffed 

, in the ordinary way and taken over t o the Civil Jailor to the 
Criminal Court. 

Q. Up to this t ime you are no t aware that they were kept 
handcuffed for days and da ys both in j ail and in fort ? 

A. They were not kept handcuffed unless they were kept in 
tents. In the fort temporary places were made and I do not 
know whether they were kept handcuffed or not. 

Q. For several days no arr ngement was made for these 
r~spectable people? 

A. I cannot say. Everyooe was suffering from want of 
ordinary comfort. I know European women and children we!re 
suffering from inconveniences in the Fort. But they were not 
kept in condemned cells. 



,. EVID~NCE OP IIR. IRVING 

Q. Eitber in the Fort or in jail ' they were nOt 
cells ?-A. Ordinary ward cells, I am not quite sure. 

.JBALIARW ALA BAa· 

( LAltO .. 

kept in 

Q. The estimate was there were about 25 to 30 tbousand 
,people present there? 

A. 1 did not see. I have heard about that number was 
.present but I do not trust estimnes. 

Q. Why were not steps taken to warn off tbose people who 
had commenced to assemble that the meeting had been proclaim' 

,ed a illegal? 
A. The authorities were warning them along the street and 

it was, as I understand, at 4 P .M. that the neWs of the act ual 
·collecting of the crowd came to General Dyer upon which he 
mad arrangements. 

Q. You knew of the fact that the meeting was going to be 
,held. Where was the difficulty 01 poeting two or three soldier 
and scaring away the people? 

A. I 00 not think it 1V0uid be at all safe to send 3 or .. 
sOld1ers.-Q. Half a dozen soldiers? 

A. I think they would not be able to do o. 
. It was nOl done because it would not be safe to send air 

a dO'ie'~ soldier ?-A. 1 OIODot' say. 
Q, Why were not the Police ordered to go and prevc:a L 

,people from entering the garden? 
A, It was not saie for a party of Policemen to go into the 

·city In those days. 
Q. They were at the Kot wali ? • 
A. -Yes, behind walls with military pickets. We could not 

'send out that 'pany to the city. When the General went he took 
the whole force with him. 

1650 Rounds of Ammunition Fired on a Deneb Orowd. 
Q. How many shots were fired ?-A. :650. 
Q. I it true that firing continued for) 5 minutes? 
A. General Dyer will be able to tell you that. (Further 

.questioned) I think it continued for 10 minutes. 
Q. Wert! you informed that the majority of the dead bodies 

were at the entranoe .?-A. 1 hey were at the· back. 
Q. Wa. not the chief exit occupied by tbe Military? 
A. N~ ~ 
Q. Is it to your knowledge that a b"y of 7 montbs was shot? 
A. Not to my kno",iege. It was nOl on our Ii t. 
Q. SO long as you were at Amritsar you never took the 

trOUble of ascertaining as to how many people were killed and 
·wounded? 
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A. Yes we tried. I got a return from the he Ith officer. 
Q. You never order d an enquiry? 
A. 1 did IIOt order any special enquiry. 
Q. Between the J Ilh and 12th did you u ~e t any meeting 

to be held to terminate the hartal ?-A. No. 
Q. All the shops were opened on the morning of the 13~h ? 
A. All the IIhops were opened. 
Q. There was no hartal on t he morning of t he 13th. 
A. t do not know. A great number of shop were still closed. 
Q. Am I to undersland that 75 per cellt of the shops were-

opened and :1 5 per cenl clo ed ? 
A. lean't tell you the percen ge. Some" hO\>$ were opened 

and . orne clo ed. 
The wilne wa then examined wi~h refereqce to the meeting 

called by the authorities. The speech whieR the witue s made 
wa not a threatening peech. He ooke to the person pre ent 
in t,.rms of very bitter remorse. 

Q. WfII you kindly give to I he committee all the facts upon· 
which you are prepared to make the stat ement that there wa 
a state of open rebellion? 

A. From the general slate of the district of Amritsar • • 
Q. Can you place all the facts upon which you came to the 

con Illsion that hetween the loth and I 5t h of April, there wall 
a ~Iate of ollen rehellion in Amritsar. You have stated one fact, 
viz. the general state of I he province. It is very difficult for me 
to understand. But apart from that can you give any speci6c 
facts IIpon which you based that opinion of yours? 

A. (I) Tbe temper of I he people was absolutely rleliant. 
(2) They were organising t'hemselves in a hostile manner. 
(3) Tbey were opellly making it known I ha t they had control 

of t he city and that they were independent of the Government. 
(4) They also believed that the leaders desired to fight it 

out and see who was the master. 
All tbese news came to us notably through hear ay. The 

opinion was arrived at from the general aspect of affair as reported' 
to u. . That is all that I can think of at the moment. 

Q. What do you mean by ayin~ thaI between the loth and 
15th they were organising them lve? Were they etting up 
a rh'al organisation of their nwn, organisin~ Police and Military 
and law court or what? A. T t is not what I mean. 

Q. What do you lJlean by defiant attitu4e ? 
A. It was on 'their look. We learnt a1 0 from report. 
Q. You said they had control of the city but you yourself 

admitted that none of the authorities cared to go inside the city. 
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A. Yes, without an escort. Nor would thell be allowed to 
-do so We could 1I0t put out our head into the or et' ~ ne t . 

Q. Will you kindly gi e lIIe 1 he source of -your information: 
any rep ott atloUl'some body saying 'we will figh ~ . i out?' 

A. You will find it ill the record of one of the rials. 
Q. ; You being a magistrate of experience are you prepared 

to take out a sillgle expres ion from a speech and ay thac amounts 
to open rebellion? 

A. r did lIot come to that opinion on only OI\e of those 
circumstance. I came to the conclusion upon a numb r of circum­
staoces appcaring berorc me during t he day. _-\t tbe time 1 was 
-not writing out a reasoned juct ment. 

The Orawling Order. 
Q. Arc you prepared to swea" that the allegation that the 

'real order was that people mu t crawl on their belly and if any 
one refu ed to do it he would be nUlled b rifle is fal e? 

A. It never came to my acknowledge in that torm. I did IIOt 
soe it myself. It was not the order that the General told me that 
he hOld passed. 

Q. It would not have caused any hardship to 1 he people in 
the hIes on (hat street? 

A. I do not think they had much inconvenience. People 
told me they got over the roof and down behind. 

Q. And yon think people were very happy to do 50 ? 
A. I do not ay 50. 

Further questioned wilue s said there was no civil authority 
present al the Jailianwaiabagh-llo Magistrate, but only two 
Police officers. He was not very far. If tie had been &eDt for he 
would have been available , 

Q. AmrilSar being in a state of open warfare with tbe autbo­
rilie how /oog in your view was Lhii warfare continued? 

A. No. I should say the control of the city was resumod 
<\ftor the 13th. 

Q. Then this warfare continued from 10th to the 13th? 
A. Yes . 
Q. And I take it that the measure taken during lhe period 

were on the footing that Amrilsar was ill a state of warfare agalDst 
the Crown? 

A. I think ~hat was the idea. The feeling was how near we 
were to another 18S7. 

Q. You regarded the whole city a being in a state of war­
farc with the Crown? A. It approached nearly to that. 

Lord Hunter : The \vitness's own report was that there was 
a state of n:bc:lJion against tho authoritie • 

Mr. Irving: I don t draw any fillc distinctions. 



Extracts from Evidence of General Dyer. 
The Hero of Jhallll'nwaia Bag. 

Q. In the morning of the 12th, did you proceed through the 
city with a column of available troop~ 1 

A. We went half round the cit)' toward the En ...... Gate. 
and then 1 proceeded through tire city. 

Q. \Vh t tr op had you, 120 British Troops, 200 Indian 
oldier and 2 armoured cars p A. Ye. 

Did you proceed through the ily to the place where you 
ot reports a to mob collecting ? 

A. There was mob at the southern gate. We had a little 
difficulty in disper ing them. They would not go away immedi­
ately. I con. idered the ad,,! ability of opening fire on them. 
I thought it would not be quit right perhaps and that I had 
hetter r ue a proclamation personally before I took such a dras-

, tic measure. 
Q. Were you making any u~e of any aeroplane at that tlme ? 
A. I do not think thert! was an aeroplane. It was not 

actually under my command. It usually came from Lahore. 
Q. That gl1ve yOll report ohhe situation in the city? 
A. Ye , it gave important information ::tbout what wa going on. 
Q. On the occa ion of this march throlleh the city, in what 

condition did you find the crowd p 
A. I think they were very insolent. 
Q. How did they show their insolence ? 

. They were shouting H indu· M lIssalrnanki jai. Then I 
ordered them to go away but they would not move back. Certain 
mem ers of the crowd spat on the grou nd as we passed along. 

<). Did you sce any act of violence committed on that occa-
sion? A. No. 

Q. During that day, certain arrests were made by the police? 
A. Yes. 

Were they made un er military protection? A. Yes. 
Q. I think you had a prOClamation prepared which appear 

in tht: Appendix of the report whIch you ent to the General 
taHon the 6th August ? A. Yes. 

(. That proclamation I ee i· in fullowing terms: "The in­
habitant of Amritsar are hereby informed if they will cause 
damage to any property or commit any act of violence in Amrit ar 
or irs environs it will be taken for granted that such acts are 

6 
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due to incitement and offeruler would be puni hed according 
to Military Law. All meetings and gatherings are hereby pr,·hibited 
and will be diopersed at once under Military Law."-Who pre­
pared that proclamation ? 

A. I think it was done by me or the Brigade·Major, or I may 
have dictated it to him aud he wrote it. 

Q. That was prepared on the evening of the 12th? A. es. 
Q. How was it issued? A. Throug he Police, 1 believe. 
Q. Do you know whetht:r any mt:a lire was taken to en ure 

it publication to th e citizen!> ? 
A. No. I cannot. T was most likely informed that it had 

been proclaimed-l am not certain. 
Q. Would you kindly explain what \\'a meant by disper in 

the crowd under Military Law ? 
A. I would have to send them awal'-clear them oul. 

Accoroiug to l\Jllitary law if you req uirt:d to disp.er e the 
crowd mu t yOll or must yOll not give them intimation that they 
are required to di sperse before you resorlt:d to tht: mea 'Jrt: of 
firing p 

A. We have to IVai n them and after that if they do collect, 
they will be fired on . 

• According to military law. will it or lVill it nCI be ri hI 
to fire upon a crowd to disper e them without iving proper inti­
mation , 

A. They had already had orders. If they would collect. it 
would be righl. 

On the morning of the 13th did you form any re olution 
a to your elf making a declaration in the city? 

A. I went there per 'onally. 
· What time did you tan to make the proclamation ? 

A. I do not exactly rem ember the time , It might have been . 
9-30 perhaps. It mighl have betn later. 

Q How long did you occupy in making the proclamation ? 
A, Long time. I may have been there 20r 3 hOllr . 

The proclamation. 

· The proclamalion that IVa read on this occasion i men­
tioned in lht appendix 3 10 your report : It is in the e terms : 
"It is hereby proclaimed thaI no person re iding in the city i 
permitted or a\l()wed to leave the city without p s from 
one of the following" . Then it proceed . "No per on 
re iding in the city i permittea to leave hi hOll e after ; any 
pel' on found In lhe streets after 8 i Ii. ble to be hot. No proce-
iun of any kind i permitted to par de the cit)' or any part of the 

cit)' or outside of it at any time. Any uch procession or any . 
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gatherin of 4 men will be looked upon and treated a an unlawful 
a embly and i per~ d by f rce of arms if n e • r ,."-Wh t i 
the i nificaDce of the qualific tina: .r If nece r ,to. 

A. Well, if I thou ht it neces ry. It mi ht not Iway be 
nece ary. 

Q. At the time the procl mation wa iud, wa. Ih r ny 
ejdculation by tbe cro d with referenc 10 the procl illation ? 

A. I he rd n g 0(\ tieal of noi e. 1 Il'a a /ill!e behind perhaps, 
I did not nlwa)' bear wb:\! they aid. 

. C n you per onall te tify to an , di tinct r f ren e m de 
by the crowd durin thf! periocl y')U were i uin the pr cl, m lion l 

A. 1 could not ar. The were I'\ughing. The ' Were IIOt 
behaving very IV'!II evidently. I WitS told thAt the werc yin 
that it wa blu{f: to he ' wont fire " and word to thM IIect. 
They were not to be afraid. 

When did you ge t information that a meeting would 
as emble at Jallianwala Ba 'h ? 

A. I was in the city at the time. I cannot quite say what time 
it wa. It m y have been from 1-30 to 2 P m. 

I ee III thi repor! to th enernl I If you aid: It was 
at 12-45 on my way to the Rambagh I wa informed that inspite 
of my tern proclamation a bi~ meeting would be held at Jallian-
wala Ba Ib at 4-30 that aft~rnoon ? A . Th t' correc!. 

. 011 tbe as umption that it i correct, 1 want you to e pi in 
wby you did 1I0t take measure to prevent the crowd from as em­
blinl( at all at the Jaliianwala Hagh ? 

A. I went there as soon a I could. I hRd to organl e my force 
to th ink the matter out. 1 had to orlmni e my force, I had t 
make up my mind what forces I was going to It:ave behind :tnd 
",here to po t picket. I thought I had done enough in warning 
them not to metl. 1f they were g ing to meet, I wa going a 
fa t a I could. I had to con ider th millt ry situation and make 
up my minei and it took a certain amount of time. 

Q. Did the making of di sposition necessitate the occupation 
of the time between 12-40 104 pm. ? 

A. 1 did not believe that they would really meet after all that 
I haei done in the mornin . I did not thjnk of ending' off an ther 
force and warn them not to go. 1 had warned them 12 day up to 
th'! time 1 got back to Ramb.gll. 

Q . When did you get definite information that in fact the 
meeting \Va being held? . At about 4 o'clock. 

Q. From whom ? A. It was f rom lr. Rehill a far a I 
remember. 

Q. When you received that information what action did yon 
take (A. Iy plans were com plete then, and I marched off 
towards the city soon after. 
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Q. Had you with you picketting parties p 
A. 1 had picketling parties and we all marched off together. 
Q. You had a special party of 25 rifles of Gurkha and 'S 

ikhs? 
A. Yes, there were 40 other Gurkhas armed with Kurkis. 
Q. You al 0 had two armoured cars ? A. Yet. 
Q. Wert~ those all the troop available after keeping pickets 

re erved. A. Every man available after pro Iding for other things. 
Q. You proceeded towards the J allianwala Bagh at an usual 

pace. ? A. rdinary walking pace. 
Q You did not consider there was any neeee ity for proceed­

ing with any extra expedition? 
A. No sir It was very hot. We went at u ual pace of march-

ing. 
YOII marched you dropped out the picket parties? 

. A. We marched till they came to the most convenient road to 
their destination and they left us. 

Q. As nearly as you can recollect in what time did you reach 
the J allianwala Bagh p 

A. 1 think it was about 5 or 5"5 p.m. I could not say. I did 
not note the time. 

' . When you arrived at the J allianwala Bagh what did yOIl do p 
A. 1 c1t!!Jloyed my troops right and left, got the Gurkhas on 

the left and Ihe Punjabis on the right. 
Q. J thinl you had entered by the narrow entrance chat leads 

into the lallianwala Bagh ? A. Yes . 
· You had left your motor cars behind? A. Yes. 

(J., Did you have the Gurkhas who were armed with Kukri or 
they were at t!1e back? A. They too had come into tbe Bag.h. 

• Then )'OU had 40 Gurkhas and two column of 25 men 
each, armed with rifles p A. Yes. 

Q. You said you deployed 25 soldier to the right and 2 S' to 
the left that is on the high ground on the north side of the rect-
angular space? A. Y~R. 

· Thit i a very convenient piece of land? A. Very. 
Q, There are very few entrances and exits t 
A. Yes, 1 think one wide and there might have been a or 

3 small e.' it. 1 had never seen the Bagh. 
Q. When you got into the Bagh wbat did you do ? 
A. 1 opened fire. 

· At once p 

A. Immediately. I had t'!-tought about the matter and dont 
i'l\agine it to k me more than 30 seconds to make up my mind 
as to what my duty wa . 

Q. As regud the crowd what was it doing p 
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A. \ ell, hey were holctiog a meeLin. Ther ,a m n in 
Lhe centre of the pi ce on omething rai ed. Hi • rm were mov. 
ing about. He, a evidently addre ing. 

Q. How far wa thi man from 'Oll and the milil. r '. 
A. When I entered fir t about 8 or 9 yd. II r n w' t 

the right and there were a ood man other \ ho r n wayan 
climbed over the wall. 

· A I under tand at a distance of orne thin like (00 yel . hom 
the Elace where u tationed the army there is a ridge; . 'e. 

Q. Where wa the m n who wa addre ing the crowd com-
pared wltb that? 

A. He was ab olutely in tho centre of the quare far a we 
could judge. I should ay nearly So or 60 yd '. from where my 
troop were dr. \Yn up. 

· \ the re a great rna s of crowd siLual~d (m tb furl her 
side of the place [rom where you were, i e. on th s uthern pnrt 
of the B gh ? 

A. Yt:, I hould think mo t of them were. 
He eemed to be surrvunded by them? 

A. Perhap most C)f them were on the further side . 
Q. SO far as you knew was there anything orcurring xcept 

thi man add res ing ? • 
A. No, I could not ee an) thing beyond tbat. 
Q. How many people were in the crowd. 
A. l then e timated them roughly at 5000. I heard afterwards 

there were many more. 

· On the assumption that tht re was a crowd of so mething 
like 5000 listening or more have you any doubt thal many of 
the people must have been unaware of your proclamation that y u 
issued in tbe morning? 

A. It had been well issued and new spread very rapidly in a 
place like that under prevailing condition. At the arne lime 
there may have been a good many who had nOt heard of the 
proclamation. 

Q. On the as umption that there was that risk oE people being 
in the crowd who "'ere not aware oE the proclamation. did it not 
Occur to ) ou that it was a proper measure to a. k the crowd to 
disperse befere you took that tep of actually firing? 

A. No, at tile time I did nOt . I merely felt that my order 
had not been obeyed, Ihat martial law was flouted and that it wa 
my duty to immediately disperse by rifle fire. 

. Before you disper ed the crowd. had the crowd taken any 
action at all? A . No ir. They had run away a few of them. 

Q. Did they start to run away p 
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A. Yes; When I began to fire, the big mass in the centre 

began to run almost towards the right. 
Q. Martial law had not been proclaimed. Before you took 

that step whit::h was a serious step, did you not consider as to the 
propriety of consulting the Depu ty Commissioner who \Va the 
civil authority responsible for the order of the city p 

A. . There wa not any Deputy Commi . ner 10 onsult at the 
time. I did not thillk it wise to a k anybody further. 1 had to 
make up my mind immediately as to what my action hould be. 
I considered it from the military point of view t)lat I ought to fire 
immediately, that if 1 did nOl do so. I should fail in my dut}r. 

Q. When you left Rambag h, did it OCCur to you that you 
might have to fire? 

A. Yes, I had considered the nature of the duty that I might 
have to face. 

. Did you not think it proper. [0 have: civil authority with 
you before YIlU took that tep? 

A I had a Police OfTtcer with lIle. 
Q. Who is that ? A. Mr Rehill and Mr. Plomer were there. 

Q. As I understand Mr. Reh ill and Mr. Plomer came on the 
scenl1'after you actually commenced firing? 

A. I think Mr. Rebill was there actually while the firing \IIa 
going on . 

Q. During the whole time? 
A. I dll not know. I was looking at my troops but I saw him 

there. I did nOl wait longer after the firing and he was certainly 
there ilt th e end of the firing. 

Q. Before firing did you ask Mr. Rehill whether in his judg­
ment it was nec~ssary to fire? 

A. No sir. My mind was made lip, as 1 came along in my 
motor car, thal if my orders were not obeyed, 1 would fire imme­
diately. 

Q 
A. 
Q. 

fired? 
Q. 

In firillg was it your object to disperse? 
No s ir. 1 was going 10 fire until they disper ed. 
Did tlle crowd at once sta rt to di~perse as S00n 
A. Immediately. 
Did you conlinue firing? A. Yes. 

as you 

Q. After the crowd indicated it wa going to disper e why did 
you not stop? . 

A. I thou~hl it my duty to ~o on until it disper ed. If I fired 
a litLle lhe ef[ect would not be sufficient. If I fired a littl~ I should 
be wrong- in firing at all. 

Q. For what length of time. did the firing go on p 
A. It might have been 10 minutes, il might have been less. I 
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think it was probably Jess from the number of round that were 

. fired. 
• So far as you could se"Z had the crowd; tick in their h nd ? 
· I could not a that they all had . I pre um e that they h 

a number of sticks. I knew they were going to be armed with , tick. 
· Have yOll e er in YOllr military experience tl'l 1I e imilar 

method~ flf di per ing crowds ~ 
A. Never, it was an exceptional case. 

· What reRSon had you to suppose that if yOll had ordered 
. the assembly to leave the Bagh they would not h ve tl lie ~o with­
out the nec.: 'sity of your firing and cominu 1 filing for any lungllt 
Qf time ? 

A. Yes, ] think it quite possible that J could have dispersed 
them perhaps Yen without firing. 

O. Why did you IIOt have recour e to that p 
A. They would have all come baok and 1 ughed at 

me and I should have made what I considered a. fool of 
• myself. 

Q Tn taking the action which you dill , did you take it upon 
that basis viz. that it was not so mllch an Amrnsa r que tion as a 
question of Amritsar district? 

A. Yes, ir, at: olutely , I looked upon the crowd a rebel who 
were tr),in g to assault my forces to cut me off from ~very place. 
There fore, I considered it my duty to fire on them and to fire well. 

Q. Were there an)' other circumstances that weighed \Vith you 
when YOll look the po~ition to fire ( 

A. No. ir [looked upon it aq m )' dllty and a very horrible 
duty. 

Q. After the firing had taken place. I think you returned with 
your troop to the Rambagh ? A. Yes, ir. 

O. And on counting the ammunition it was found thal 1650 
rounds of ammunition had been fired ? 

A. Quite right. 
Q . Did )'ou ascertain the ca ualties ? 
A. I could form a rough estimate of the number from the 

number of rounds that was fIred : and I calculated from that roughly 
that tbe number would be 300. I did not take it to be more than 
3 0 0 casu;) lties. 

Q. You did not know tha t tbe ca ualties \Vere something like 
-400 or 50 0 ? 

A. I have seen it in the paper. 
Q, You nnw know whether yJ u have been informed or not? 

It was something between ,,"00 and 500 ? 
A. T have een it ill the papers If I di vided the rounds by () 

:1 should be nearer the marks than if I divided it by 5. 
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Shooting 'was individual and not volley shootng ? 
There was no volley shooting in the service? 
The crowd was very den e? A. Very dense. 
It was unlikely that a man shooting into the crowd 

Lahore 

wooJd l 

A. No, except in certain instances as they were running a 
certain number 01 men was hit-a small per nlage was hit as they 
were running along . In the centre of lhe &quare the crowd was very 
dense. There, as a man directed hi s fire . he should not miss. 

Q. SO that it is not ill1possibl t that tht! numbe r of death 
should be 400 or 500 from the number of rounds? 

A. Quite possible. 
Q. As regard tbe relllloval of the wounded were you in a po i. 

tion to render any aid p 
A. No Sir. not there. 1 should have give n aid afterward if they 

asked for it. II was 111m 110/ tn, ' duly 10 rwder aid. It wa a 
medical question. 

Q. Next day you i sued a vroclamation with reference to the 
burying of the dead in these terms: .. The inhabitants may burn 
OT bury their dead as S()un as th ey please. There mu~t be no de· 
monstration of any kind."-That was the order? A. Yes ir. 

After the firing wh"t was the slate of the city on the 14th ? 
A. I wen t through the cily to see if my orders had been carried 

out or nol. J visited the pi ckets. All was quiet. 
Q. Martial hl\v 1 think \\a actually proclaimed on the J 5th? 
A. Actually at Amritsar I believe on the J 5th. It might have 

been later perhaps, I cannot remember. 
Q. U nder Martial law a number of cn-ders were i sued? A. Ye . 
Q. Both before and after the proclamati on p 
A. I am re pon~ ible for what the orders are. They may have 

been issued by my Brigadt: Major. But I am responsIble. 
Q. I see in your report you say that the city as. umed normal 

condition-? A. Yes, sir. There was absolutely no crime. 
Q. If that is so \Va it neccssary that martia! law hould be 

proclaimed on the 15th ? 
A. 1t was ; Martial law had been in existe nce before it was 

proclaimed. As they werc freuing beller 1 relaxed the conditions. 
Q. Martial law hael ' defaeto' been in eXistence from your 

arrival ? A. Absolutely sir. It had the same effect. 

General Dyer's Impression about the Sikhs. 
l 

Q. Did you on th~ morning of the 14th receh'e informatio 
that another meeting was to be held ? 

A. Yes, in the Golden Temple. 
Q. What significance did you attach to that? 
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A. 1 thought that 1 might have to fire gain perl! p at the 

mob. If I did 0, we should nav all the ikh campI, inin th t 1 
bad destroyed tbe olden Temple. '" ilhoUl firing rum ur w 
going abroad that I had destroye(\ the olden Temple. Therefore 
if I hac! fire<l on it, it would be proof that 1 had d stroyed the 

olden temple. 
Q. There wa no truth in the rumour that the olden 

Temple had been pulled down p 
A. No, ir. It was not touched in the lea l. 1 nl for Arur 

Sing and Sunder Sing l\fajilhi , one IVa the man. ger of the olden 
Temple and the 0 her, I un<lerstoori, wa very influential. I, ked 
them not to allow il and if they required any help 1 should be called 
to hel\> them. 

Q. Had ome na ty rum our been afloat as to your action 
ith reference to 'orne ikh girl. ? A. Y ('5 ir. 

Q. Did you take mean. to dispel the rum OUT; ? 
A. There was iron discipline at Amrit ar. It could not be 

possible but I had to dispel il. 0 I went round. 
Q. You were satisfied there was no truth in it ? 
A. Absolutely no truth. 
Q. As regards Rogging that was a form f puni~hment which is 

recognised in the army? A. Under :'Itarti,,1 Law specially . • 
Q. What do you s~r about public flogging as contrasted with 

private fillgging? 
A. A solriiers when we lash a man we lash in publi. The 

whole regiment is paraded and the victim is lashed in public with a 
view to m~ke an irupressioll 011 every wrong-doer or to make an 
impre sian on would-be wrong-d ers. 

Q. Do )'OU think thaI the same rc:asCJn applies wilen under 
Manial law you flog a civilian? 

A. Yes, I looked upon it as the same as it would make go d 
impressIon undt:r Maltial Law. 

. Of COurse according to the old Civil law thi u ed to occur 
in public but for many years lhey have not taken place in public ? 

A. lee. 
Q. Were these people whipped in public? 
A. Yes, but both ends of the street were closed and il did not 

look RS a public thoroughfa.e. 
Q. But people going that way could have seen it ? 
A. If they Iikt:d to go there lhe) could have seen. 
Q. People who were living there could have seen? A. Yes. 
Q. VVould it not bavl" been b ler if that took place in private? 
A. J cannot say it. 
Q. SO far as the inhabitants of the streets were concerned, why 

should they have liked to site flogging? 
A. Ilhink the population of Amritsar is 70,000. 
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Q. It is a great deal more. It is about r,oo,ooo. 
A. Tile crowd were present at the firing and 0ther place , it 

'wou ld look as if the majority of these men were in it. A very great 
number were rebels. 

Q. . till you must admit in a large population th.ere must have 
·been many ciliz.:ns who are not disposed to disorder bu were quite 
'wi lling to obey lawful orders? A. Yes. . 

Q. Tbere was that narrow minority that you had to get mastery 
over? 

A Ilfortunately for them owing to th e wicked acts of other 
they came under martial law an (t if th ey had to look things like that, 
it ,uight have been unfortunate but under martial IMY it could not 
-have been belped. 

Q. l\fust you not issue orders so as not to permanently alienate 
ibe people Or put them out of sympathy with the admini stration ? 

A. Quite so. But we were making examples of people \\ h 
'were doing wrong. 

Q. But you must at the same time see that you do not condemn 
,the innocent in punishing the guilty t 

A. I did not see that 1 wao condemning the innocent. 
Q... Take your orders as regards crawling. What was you r 

object p , 

A. I explained that in the statement prin ted. I fe ll women 
Ihad been bealen. We look up on women as sacred. I searched 
,in my brain for a suilahl ~ puni hment for these aweful ca e . I did 
not know how to meet it There was a little bit of accident in that. 
Now when I visited rhe pickets, I wenl do\.n and ordered a triangle 
to be erected. I felt rhe street ought to be looked upon a s~ cred. 
Therefore I posted pickets at both ends and told them 'No 1 ndian 
are to be allowed to pass along here. I then also s~id if tlle)1 had 
to pass th ey mu t go on all fours J It never entered hly brain that 
any sensible man , any sane man would under the circumstan ces 
voluntarily go through that street. 

You promulgated that order from tbe 19th. to the Z5th 
of .\pril and Miss Sherwood WlIS a aulted on the loth? A. '\ es. 

Q., Should not your object have been to punish th o~e who were 
guilt of a ault so far as possible to avoid puni hing those who were 
:nnocent p A. yes 

At the street where yOll issued thi prodamation, there are 
many house abutting? A. Ye 'fa good many on both sides. 

Q. A I und erstand there are a good many house. that had 
no back entrance at all? A. I was not aware of it at tht: time. 

(. If it to be the case that there were many of the~e houses 
,that had no back entrance what justification is there in pas in3 an 
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order which nece itated the inhabitant 1 wfuUy re iding to crawl 
.on all fours wben they had to leave their hou es ? 

A. They could leave at n other times. My picket \ a there 
from 6 A. 1. to 8 P. M. I do not think it caused very gr t 
inconve nience. If lhey had uffered a little 'Inder martial la\ It 
would do no harm. They could get necessarie of life by other 
means. It could not be helped if they had to suffer a Slight amount 
of inconvenience. Q. How could they ? 

A. Most of them had back entrance, I was told. Tho e 
who had to get nece arie could go aod adopt impl'ovi ed me os 
or go out after 8 p . 1\1. 

. Thi order might h:we a ve y different effect from the effect 
which you wished ill lead of being :l. jn 1 puni hment on tho e who 
had offended; it could cause a great deal of ill.feeling among tho e 
who would resent it, people who had not been resp n ible for lhe 
act that \Va done ? 

A. Amritsar behaved very badly and most of the inhabitants 
either gave assistance or were only waiting to Bee what w s going 
to happen. 

They did not offer any help until after the trouble was over. If 
they suffered a lillIe inconvenience it could nOI be helped . 

Q. You will admit during the period of turmoil it is 'mcult 
thing for the peaceful citizen to give nssistance in quelling the di • 
turbances. Is it not just on thal account that extreme remedy be 
confined to the moh as distiuguished from law-abiding citizens 1 

A. Ye they were abstract law abiding citizens; but I think on 
that occasion I only thought of punishing th wicked. 

Q. But this treet was not the Si reet that w s f,equented by 
those who had beaten l\Iiss Sherwood? 

A. No. But I had erected a platform there ill th e middle of 
the street and thought when I got these men who had beaten her 
1 \vould lash them down. I meant Lo lash them. I al 0 wanted to 
keep the street, what I called sac red. Thtrefore I did not want 
-anybody to pass throllgh it. It was an accident that these men had 
to pass through . . Thae were a number of person made to crawl p 

A. I did not hear all thal,-if they took anybody d eliberately 
it wa not done deliberately by me. It was a pure accident. My 
Qrder was different. As they were oing my sergeant made them 
<10 what I had ordered. But I never imagined that any sensible man 
would go there vohmtar.i1y . 

Q If you wanted to get peo Ie away was it not a meaningless 
order. 

A. It was only with a ~jew to making the street what I cal!ed 
acred . I was earching my brain for some suitable punishment 

at the time and the order made waall that I could have done. 
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Q. You had it enforced from the 19th to the 25th April ? 
A. J think that is quite right. I wanted to revo. e it but I went 

away on the 21St and so the order was kept ill force up to that time. 
Q. What led to its being supe rseded? 
A. I received an order to that effect. 
Q. If you had not received it what was your intention ? 
A. Well , after I returned I presume I 'WOuld have taken the 

picket off. [had a great deal to think of. After the men were 
lashed there was no need of keeping the pickets there. 

Q. When were these 6 men lashed? 
A. I think it was about the 20th. 
Q. If it was on the 20th there W:lS no object in going on with 

that after the 20th? 
A. I had overlooked the matter. There was ce tainly no· 

object after these men had been !ashed. 
Q. As regards the men who were lashed all of them were men 

\Vho had assaulte'd. 
A. Yes, so I am told. 
Q. But all of them were not lashed in comequence of assault 

on Miss berwood but for some other offence? 
A. Yes, th ey were tried. If these are the men they mu. t be 

lashed in that Street. 
. Were they lashed in that treet before they had been tried 

for assaulting Mi s Sherwood? 
A. No. 1 did not wait till the Provost l\Iartial. 
Q. Therefore I do not St;;e it was a puni hment that was mete<t 

out in consequence of that. It was in respect of something like 
breach of discipline? ' 

A. I suppose \Vh~n I found that these are the men who had 
beaten Miss Sherwood , 1 said that is th e place to lash them . 

Q. I could und~rstand if they had hetn lashed at the time but 
they wert not lashed except for another offence. I do not quite 
see how ,You achieved anything by having them lashed here ? 

A. Everybody knew that they had beaten l\Iiss Sherwood . So 
lashing them there appeared to me t .. be proper. They escaped 
a bigge r punisiament. 1 thought these were the men when I 
lashed them. 

Q. omplainls have been made that under Military Jaw, a 
number of persons of Amrit ar, occupying po itwn of responsibility 
in the society were arre ted and kept in custody for a long time 
and then rdea ed without any charge being preferred against them. 
Do you know anything about that? 

A. I do not remember anything about that. I believe there· 
Were a certain number of men in the Fort. They were trying to 
get them tried as far as they could. My orders were to have them· 
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tried a sOl)n as they could. But there was Ii gre t deal of doubt a 
to who were to try them, the Provo t Marlial , th pedal ourt or 
any body else. It might have been that owing to that tllere wa a 
little delay. 

Q. 10 connection with their being taken through the tr et 
and their having been subjected to the jndig ily of hand-cuff, what 
-do you say? 

A. I think the were probably hand-cuffed . That i the ordinary 
method of dealing with them who had committed offence und r 
maItial law. 

Q. Before they have been tried? 
A. Ye, J think that would he the right course. 
Q. A regards trial , there were two sets of tribunal set up by 

the Government of India and the summary CQurt that you set up ( 
A. That'a it. 

Had you anything to do with the regulatil)n of trial of the 
case under .the special courts 1 

A. No, ir, they wele tried by the Provost Martial. 
. What was the law regardiof.t procedurr' Is there a special 

army regulation or special martial law regulation? A. Ye, flir. 
Q. an you sUfJply me with a copy of the regulations p 
A. No, ir, 1 have not got one. 
Q. With reference to the commi sions i.e. special tribun Is you 

had 1I0thing to do 1 A. No. 
Q. That was a matter entirely regulated by the courts con­

'!Ilituted 1 A Ye. 

Examination by Sir ChlmanJal Set.alvad. 

Q. When you arrived the civil authorities handed ovel the 
.<: arge to you? 

A. They aid :it did not exist and I should take command. 
There was complete lawlessness in the city, they said. 

Was charge formally handf:d-over to you? 
A. Ye in writing. Thal is in appendix to the report. 
Q. Under whal authority was thi done p 
A . I do not kn')w-under some civil law. 
Q. Can you tell me under what civil law, 
A. No. Any way it wa~ handed over to me. 
Q. Had you any orders from su perior authority to take civil 

~harge in hat manoer ? 
A. I wa the officer comm ding the district and therefore if 

the civil law ce ed it became my duty to take over. 
You thought you Were com petent to take over charge 

A. From the mililar.v point of view, certainly. 
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Q. When you arrived you heard of the events of the loth at 

Amritsar ? A. Yes. 
Q. Did it strike yOll that the armed force in AmriLSar at 

the disposal of the civil authorities wa not ufficient to cope 
with the situation? 

A. Yes. it had Hpparently proved itself not to be tVticieut. 
Q. 1£ the civil authorities had suOiciC:l\t mlli,tary aid supplied to 

them could they cope with the situation? 
A. They had to trv the thing. The very be t expedient under 

the circumstances was that they should hand over the charge to me 
as tbe officer co~manding the district, considering the ituation all 
round. 

Q. Neither you nor Mr. Irving considered the pos ible 
alternative of the civil authority carrying with sufficient military aid 
from you? 

A. No. I could act in aid of civil power- that is in sm 11 
matters. 

Q. You did not consider it ? 
A. I do not remember it. I thought what had happeoert . 

banding over to me wa right. It was very seriou' situation. t 
was beyond civil control - I was the man to deal with it rightly and 
properly. 

. Did you consider the feasibility of the alternati\'e I am 
sllggesting or you did not consider it at ail? 

A. I never considered it. I may have. I cannot tell you. 
Q. You had consultation with Mr. Irving? A Yes. 

And with Police officers and some other gentlemen? 
A. There were Mr. Plomer, Mr. Raehill and variou others. 
Q. Mr. Smith? . 
A. I do not think he was. 
Q. Did you con ider the alternative that I am suggesting to you 

or you did not? 
A. This authority had been handed over to me and it was right. 

. You did not see the nece sity ot considering the-alternative? 
A. I do not think so-[ may have, 1 may not have. At tbat 

time there was no such thing as civil power. The time for giving 
military aid had gone. It now came under me and rightly so. I do 
not know of any medium course. 

Q. As soon as you arrived fro Irving told you that he was 
prepared to hand over? A. Yes. 

Q. When that propo a1 was made to you did you or Mr Irving 
consider the alternative that the civil power could be carried with. 
sufilcient aid from you ? 

A. We did not. I thought what happened was right. 
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Q There was no di cu sion between you, nd Ir. Irving OJ') 

that subject? A. There was no di. cu ion. 
Q. On the uth ariOlls arre tS w~re made in lhe city? A. Ye • 
Q. Who arrested them ? 
A. The Police with the aid of the m ilitary. 1 \Va there in c o' 

I was wanted. 
Q. It was the Police who arre ted ? A. Yes. 
Q. Were tho e persons arre ted und r waH nlS i tied by 

ch'il authorit\' ? 
A. There WII no warrant a, far 1\ I know, nder lilitary 

law we could arrest them. But they no i10ubt hnd their warrams. 
You may finn that out from the Police. 

Q, SO tar as you were aware W(t tbere any inve titration before 
they were arre led? 

A. I tbought the Police knew their tlut)' and they did their 
duty in the ordinary way. 

, The arrests of these person ' were till left to the ordinary 
civil authorities? 

A. When they said this is the man who ha murdered, 1 
Ilaid 'arrrst', 

Q, Were the per ons hand·cuffed and marched through the· 
city? 

A, That I do not know. They were probably hand-c uffea. 
Q, Taken through the city p 
A , 1 cannot sa)'. They probably had to go through the city. 

Q . Was any sugge. tion made at your consu ltation to take 
some drastic military tntlasure again t the city on the (flh ? 

A, I was to entorce my orders. 
Q. No other special m easures ? 
A, I will tell you . I cannot think of any other pecial me ure. 

, It has been suggested that at one time it was considered 
de irable to bombard the city. 

A. 1 know nothing about it. I never tbought it necessary, It 
may bave been ne(;es~ary later. It all depended on the bebaviour 
of the crowd. 

Q. There is no tru th in the uggestion, it was COn idered on 
the I I th ? A. I ne ler heard of it. 

o n the ntb you issued proclamation No, I, on the 13th 
No. z was proclaimed in the treet in the manner you have 
de cribed ? A. Yes. 

Q. It says: "No proces io. of any kind is permitted to 
parade the s\.reets in the city or any part of the cit)' or outside 
of it any lime. Any sue procession or gathering of 4 will be 
treat'!d as an unlawful assembly and will be dispersed by forc e 



92 EVIDENCE OF GENBR.4L DYER. [Lahore 

of , arms if necessary."-Does not rthat language refel to procession 
parading the street? A. Yes , 

Q_ I s not the language open . to this con truction p No 
procession of any kind is permitted to parade the streets in the 

. city or any part of the city and the prohibition is no procession 
should parade any part of the city? A Yes. 

Q. It is against parading of procession? A. Yes. 
Q. That is the substantive prohibition? 'A. Y s. 
Q. Then follows the penalty with r :gard to such pr:)ce!:sion ? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Viz" parading the treet ? A. Yes. 
Q. Or gathering of 4 men in the street? 
A . If it is only in the slJeets that they were not to meet--that 

.is certainly not the mean ing. 
Q. YOll have seen the Golden Temple? A. YeR. 

You have seen that quarter where it is situated? 
A. Yes. I do not know it very well , I went once or twke. 
Q. Your proclamation was not read out in that quarter? 
'A . 1 cannot tell you. It must have been done 
Q. Will you be surpri sed to hear that it Wd S not? 
A. If it was not 0 it may be right. 
~. You heard of the Jallianwala Bagh meeting at 12 -40 ? 
A. Yes. somewhere about that. 
(,l. When you heard that you clid not take any step 10 \~arn 

the peopl e against going to that place? 
A. ( had been warning- them all the morning. , 
Q. But after you heard you did not ? 
A. No, 1 did not. 1 began to org,llnise my fo rces to think 

about- it. 
Q. You did not think it would be desi rable, for instance. to 

put posters a! that place ? 
A. There wa no time to do all that, 1 had to ~ook sharp and 

organise my troops and think what I was to do. The situation 
was very serious. It was much more eriol! than now it seems. 

). When you heard of it you made up your mind that if 
it wa held you would go and fire p 

A. As 1 have said, I did not at first think they would go to 
that, but if they were defying Illy o rder afte r all that 1 had done 
1 had made up my mimi practically that J would fire immediate­
ly in order to . save the military ituatioll. The time had come 
when we could delay no longer. And if I d id so, I was liable to 

.be court-mnrtialled . ' 
Q. Two armoured cars were there? A. Ye • 
Q. They h d mac:h.ine guns ? A. Yes. 

When you took them you meant to use them ? 
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A. If nece sary. If necessity arose, if I was attacked, I pre-

sume that I would u e tbem. . , 
Q. When you arrived there you were not able to tak the 

armoured car in, because the passage was too narrow? A. Yes. 
Q. Supposing the pa age was ufficient to allow the armou­

red cars to go in you would have opened llre with the 
machine guns ? 

A. I think th probability is yes. 
Q. In that ca e the casu:llties would have been higher? A. Yes. 

. You did not open fire by the machine gun by accident 
because th.ey could not be got in ? 

A. Yes, it they could be go in, t he probablllty would 
be that I would open fi re with the machine g uns 
straight. 

Q. I gather, General , as you have put in your report, your idea 
in taking this action was really to strike terror? 

A. Yes, if they disobeyed my order. If they completely 
disobeyed law, they were rebels and I must not treat them with 
gloves on. I was going to give them a les on. 

Q. Your idea was, a ll I put it to you, to strike terror? 
A. Call it what you like, 1 was going to punish them. 
Q. To strike terror not only on the immediate crowd dr the 

Police but all through tht: Punjab 1 
A. Quite so. My idea was that it should make a wide Im-

pression thoughout the Punjab. 
Q. Producing sufficient moral effect not only on those persons 

but more specially throughout the punjab-that waq your view? 
A. I wanted to reduce the number of the rebels. 
Q. You thought it would be It ri l{ ht thing in order to save the 

British Raj; thHt is what you thought? 
A. Yes, I was going to reduce the moral of the enemy. If they 

were going to fight me they were r:c:bel s and I was going to shoot 
iliem. • 

Q. You though the British Raj was in great danger ? 
A, No, it is a m:ghty thing, it would nOl be in great danger. 

But it might bring about more blood-shed, more mutiny, more 
loss of live. But the Bri tish Raj would not be in danger. 

Q. You never thought it ? A. Never. 
Q. Your object was not to save the British Raj ? 
A. To save live., to save other places being looted , to prevent 

anybody who tbougilt they could nage to mutiny. It was a hor­
Tlble act. at the same time i" was a merciful act and it required lots 
of doing. 

Q. Did it occur to you that you were really doing great disser­
vice by driving discontent? 



'94 EVIDENCE OF GENERAL J)YER. (Lahore 
A. No, I thou~ht it was my duty to do it at the same time. 

But I also realised It would be the means of saving, and any man, 
any reasonable being with a sense of justice, would see that J was 
doing a 11lerd/"I ad and that they ought to be thankful to me for 

.doing it. 
Q. But did this aspect of the matter strike YOll at all ? 
A. Never . I thought it would do a iolly 101 for good to the 

people. 
Q. When you entered the garden and gave order to fire your 

.men fired ~tanding? 
A. Kneeling. There were a few who were not kneeling but 

by the laws of firing these men were kneeling. 
Q. Did you observe, General, afler the fire was pp.ened, there 

were lots of people in the crowd who lay down on tbe ground in 
order to save themselves? A. Yes. 

Q. Your men continued to fi re on those so layng on the 
ground? 

A. I cannot say that. Some were running at the time, some 
were lying down. They fired where I directed them to fire. They 
sometimes had ceased firing and I redirected lhem to fire . F iring 
was controlled and was as instructed. 

Q. Did you direct on people lying on the ground? 
A. I probably selected-there might have been men layin~ 

down-but there were other targets, men who were standillg. . 
Q. After firing, did you take any measure for the relief of the 

wounded? 
A. Do you mean immediately after? A. Yes? 
A. No, certainly not . I t was not Illy duty. It was not my job. 

The hospi tals were open. They could go there but they d.id not 
because they thought they would be arrested. 

Q. No action was taken for dealing with the dead? 
A. They asked for permission to bury the dead. 

. That was much later? • 
A. I do not think it was much later . Mv recollection is when 

I got back to the Rambagh they came and asked me. It never en­
tered my head that they won't go to hospitals and if people were 
likely to go forward they could. 

Q. This action of yours, you now know, has resulted in the death 
of 400 or 500 people and a con iderable number of wounded 1 

A. Yes . . 
Q. That action Of yours was approved by the Punjab Gover~ 

ment? ' 
A. I believe so. It was. Of course, there was a wire to th,t 

eftect. 
Q. You wired information to the Lie.utenant-Governor? 
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A. I might h ~!.Ve, but I cannot say at this distance of time. He 

was probably wired to by my Brigade Major. 
Q. You say the Lieutenant-Governor approved that action of 

yours? A. I presume so. 
Q. Were any orders promulgated to the ffect that people 

should salaam Mililary officers, thllt if they did not do so they were 
to be punished? 

A . Under Martial Law e\'ery man has to salute the General 
Officer' Commanding whether it be hy salaaming in the ordinary 
m.anner or by taking off his hat. but every man is bound to salute. 

Q. Were order actual I ' promulgated? . 
A. I do not know. I cannot remember, but that Is the ordinary 

course: They mu"t sa!Ule. If th~y came under Martial Law, they 
must understand that. Every Indian know that he ought to 
salaam. 

Q. A large number of people were ab olutt. ly uneducated? 
A. Yes. 
Q They could have no conception of Martial Law ? 
A.. They all know salaaming. They alaam big people. They 

salaam Rajas. 
Q. What I want to uggest to you is that a large number of 

people did not realis~ that it was part of Martial Law that.. they 
should salaam British Officers ·? 

A. That may be so. But at the time they knew it was part of 
their duty. If I happen to see my seni or offi cer I sa lute him. India 
is the place of salaam Indians know and ought to know it. 

Q. They ought to salaam every British fficer? 
A. Most certainly yes , if you ask my opinion. 
Q. Every British officer ? 

A. Not every Indian should salute every British officer. There 
ar'e Indian officers of higher rank , we do not expect tbem to salute. 

Q. They must salute every British Officer. 
A. Usually you salute your superiors Under Martial Law they 

are to salute me just like any man in the camp. 

Q. And is it your view that it is obligatory on the citizens also 
to salute every Military officer under you? 

A. J think there was a rebellion, a great deal of rebellion and 
that it would be just as well that tbey hould. 

Q. They were bound to lIalute ? 
A. They wt:re bound to salute mt. I think under Martial Law 

they ought to salutl! their superior I do not think it is a very 
stern order. 

Q. V ere ,people actually arrested for not salaaming? 
A. I think not actuany for not salaaming but they were im­

pertinent when I questioned them. 
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Q. Not for salaaming or failing to salaam? But when asked 

they gave impertinent an wer ? 
A. Well, I will give you an example. I said why don't you 

salaam. He said I do not know how to ·salaam. On that under 
Manial L aw I arrested him . 

Q. In connection with this salaaming people were kept in 
custody for 10 days 1 

4, No, I do not know if that is right. t may be. 
Q. Were not people made to crawl on the street for this? 
A. But those who were impertinent and were arrested oy me 

were, by some accident, sent back to that street wllere my pickets 
were. My sergent said; You crawl, that is the order and they 
had to crawl. 

Q. There were some men unconnected with the assault on Miss 
Sherwood but arrested for impertinence and were marched through 
the street and made to crawl? 

A. They had nothing to do with the Sherwood case. They 
were men who were impertinent to me as I went there. I only gave 
them an example. These men were made to crawl not necessarily 
because they assaulted Miss herwood. 

Q, But there were other people who were guilty of breach of 
Fort discipline or impertinence and were marched througn that 
street' and made to crawl 1 

A. Yes, by accident. 1 posted my pickets. I did not kllUw 
the Police were at the far ends. They arrived at the near end of 
the street and my sergent said, 'the order is to crawl, you crawl :" 
My intention was not to make these parlicular men crawl. After 
the 19th they went voluntarily to crawl. • 

Q. 'After the 13th the city was a pattern of law and order'­
that applies to a period subsequent to the dislurbances? A. Yes. 

Q. Can you tell us what wa the need of continuing Martial 
Law over the period; was it in fact continued 1 

A No harm would be done. It was very justly administered 
and if I overlooked in any way to take it off when it was necessary, 
it was my job. When they told me it was to be off, it was off 

Q. It was continued because no harm \ as done and it wa.s 
justly admi nistered 1 A. Yes. 

Q, But there was no particular necessity of continuing it ? 
A. Law and order had come back. There was a period when 

Martial Law was not necessary, but it did not continue for all too 
long. That is all. 

Examined by Pandit Jagat Na.'ain;-
Q. You arrived at Amritsar at 9 or 10 p.m., on the I Itl!? A. Yes. 
Q. Were you informed that on the lIth, the civil authorities 

were able to make arrests in the city 1 
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A. J. was not informed of that fact. I see it in he report there 

were arrests madp. on the 11th. . I 

Q. You were not informed of this fact 1 A. Not then. 
Q On the uth 1 A. 0 far as I remember, no. 

. Were you informed of the fact that on the It th the people 
Qf Amritsar approached the civil authorities for the purpo e of 
burying their dead and that certain orders were pa ed by the 
Deputy Commissioner and that tho e orders were obeyed? 

A. I did hear that they had asked for permis ion to bury th 
dead bodies and tbat certain orders were issued to them . 

. Q. Were you informed of any lawle ne s or act of Yi.olence 
committed by the mob on the I I th 1 A. No. 

. Were you informed of any lawlessn!! or any act of violence 
committed by the mob on the uth? 

A. I should think, no. 

Q. Therefore may 1 take it that lip to the (3th, the only infor­
mation which you had about the behaviour of the mob in ide the 
<:ity was as to what they did on the loth? 

A. Yes, so far as Amritsar city was concerned : there was no 
further lawlessness except that on the loth. 

Q. The only information supplied to you wa as to what they 
had done on the loth 1 A. I think, yes. 

Q. You have repeatedly described the citizens of Am,ritsar as 
rebel ; therefore may I take it that your conclusion was based on 
that Inful malion supplied to you? 

A. Not only on the position in Amritsar but outside Amritsar 
as IIell. 

Q. 1 am talking of Amritsar only 1 
A. In Diy mind I had not only what happened there but also 

outside. 
Q. On the nth or on the morning of the l%th at the railway 

station, a number of names of agitators were given to you by 
Ashraf Khan? 

A. On the night of the 11th. It would be practically the 
morning of the 12th. 

Q. Can 1 get anywhere the names of the persons taken by you? 
A. I am afraid you cannot have them, I have not get them. 
Q Do I understand that the paper is not in existence p 

A. My Brigade !\lajor may po~sibly have got it. He is a very 
good Brigade Major. He may have .. 

Q. May I take it that all those persons whose names were given 
to you by Ashraf Khan were arre ed under your orders? 

A. I cannot say they were arrested. I do not remember 
if they were arrested. But there were certain names of person. I 
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was told they had done certain things. Undoubtedly, I said,-arrest 
them. 

Q. You were given this information by Ashraf Khan l 
A. The Superintendent and Mr. Irving were there. 
Q. The information was given by these officials? 
A. There may be other officials who have that information. 
Q. IE it be a fact that neither the police nor the official were 

aware of the fact as to who were the persons \ ho were respo ible for 
the assault on Miss Sherwood, as to who were the persons who 
burnt the National Bank, as to who were the persons re ponsible for 
the murder of Mr. tewart and other per ons, they could not have 
given you then IIny information on this point. 

A. Why do you a sume that? 
. Are you aware that it was nOt up to the 23rd April that any 

reliable information was given to any person in authority a to who 
were the person~ concerned in all the e occurrences 1 

A. I do not understand that. Lot& of persons lVere arrested. 
They have known it. 

Q. For the first time approver Hansraj gave information to the 
police on the 23rd April as to , ho were the persons concerned in 
the different occurrences and up to that time there was no other 
evidence? 

A . • Hansraj was not the only man who gave that Informatioa. 
Q. Can you tell me as to whether you hal'e any other 

information p 
A. I know nothing about it. I went there as a military man. 
Q. Supposi ng the authorities them elves were not aware of the 

individual per ons who committed the offence . they would not be i:l 
a pOSition to give you the names. 

A. If they were not, they would not be. 
Q. If the per ons concerned in the as ault were not known to 

authority, how did you come to the conclusion that these six person 
were the persons actually concerned in the assault l 

A . How am I to assume that the authorities did not know this 
because Hansraj had not spoken. There were lots of others who 
could give information to them. 

Q. Who was the officer who informed you that these six persons 
who were flogged for breach of fort di cipline were concerned with 
the assault on Miss Sherwood. 

A. The man who arrested them told me that, I presume. 
I cannot remember. And if they arrested them wrongly they 
had no answer for their wrong doing. 

Q. Is it not a fact that elCCept these six persons, no one 
else was ever accused of having committed any breach of Mar­
tial Law regulations inside the Fort and no other person 
has been mentioned? A. Yes. 



19 Nov 19191 BEFORE BUNTER COllfllUTTEE. 99-
Q. Is it not an extraordinary coincidence that these .abc 

persons who were supposed to have taken part in the as ault 
on Miss Sherwood were the o~lly pers~ms who committed any 
breach of fort rules. 

A. More than a hundred persons were arrested? 
Q. Up to that time? 
A. From time to time. orn e in the fort and some in the 

Rambagb. 
Q. Can we get any detailed information about the trint 

of these six men and the offence they com mitted p 
A. 1 should think so. The police should know why the 

arrested them nnd who g:tve evidence. Presumably there should 
be some thing. s far as I know under Martial La IV it is. 
unnecessary to keep a record . 

Q. I wanted to know whether there is a record ? 
A. There may be. You mlly be able to get it out of the 

police. 
Q. What have you to say to the suggestion, if it be made, 

that because these six persons were su pposed ri ghtly or wrongly 
by you or other officers to have taken part in the assault on 
Miss S herwood therefore on the pretex t of the breach of Fort 
di!.cipline, but as a maHer of revenge they were fl ogged? 

A. 1 say it is a wrong suggestion . 
Q. Don't )'ou think it wrong to infli ct any punishment on 

undertrial prisoners in connection with the assault on Miss 
Sherwood? 

A. No. They were not . If they committed an offence 
nnder martial law th!':)' must come. 

Q . Why were they ' not flogged inside the Fort ? 
A. I wanted them to be flogged where Miss Shp.rwood 

was assaulted. 
Q. Similarly with regard to the crawling order. That order 

was promulgated by you inside the city? 
A. 1 would not say that. 

Q. You say ill your statement here. '1 then posted two­
British pickets, one at each end of the street, with orders to 
allow no Indian to pass and that if they had to pass they 
must go through on all fours" . I infer that you passed thi 
order when you were inside the city? A. Very likely. 

Q. You have already informed the Committee and have also 
stated your statement that you never imagined that any sane 
man would voluntarily go through-under these conditions? 

A. Yes, that is absolutely true. 
Q. Is it not a very extraordinary coincidence- I call it 

deliberately extraordinary-that you passed this order which you· 
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-considered at that time wou d be a !lead Jetter b~au8e you 
thought that no sane person would voluntarily go through the 
street on all fours, and all of a sudden you moved a few 
,hundred yards and then you felt the necessity of arresting n 
persons for no edifying offence and these were tbe very 13 

persons who for the first time obeyed this order. 
A. I went to the city after po ting my pick t. There were 

·certain insolent inhabitants and (arrested 1 and handed them 
over to the police. I do not see anything extraordinary in it. 

Q. In your opinion the police were quite competent to do it 
duty 1 

A. I presume they may have been. 
Q. On the 13th when you left Ram Bagh for the Jallianwala 

Bagh, i3 it not a f.tct that you practically on t\ 0 or three sides 
surrounded the J allianwala Bagh with pickets and you left a picket 
at Sultanwlnd gate? 

A. 1 think they were at Lahore Gate, Hall gate and another 
gate. At the other gate I do not think there was, there \~a a 
picket but my information is there was not. 

Q. If a woman is found wounded at the Sultanwirad Gate, 
·can you give us an explanation how she was found there I 

A. On the 12th or J 3th ? 
. • On the 12th. A. J do not know. 

Q. If it waq on the 13th? 
A. It might be possible a stray hullet from tbe Jalllall\\'a11a 

Bagh might have hit her. Beyond that I cannOl give any ex­
.pI nation. 

Q. If some wounded person were found on the second storeys 
of buildings, there how do you explain that. 

A. Probably bullets have strayed. 
Q. If tbere be marks of blood on the second and third floors 

of buildings, would it not show tbat there was overhead firing. 
A. Certainly not. I never gave direction for overhead firing. 

1 directed nre personally and I can tell you what orders I gave. 
1 nevl!r gave any orders for overhead finng. Certainly not. Abso­
lutely not. 

Q. You never gave a moment's thought a to what would 
happen to the bodies of these 400 or 500 killed inside the 
Jallianwala Bagh and these wounded, as to how they will be atten­
ded to by their relation a to how water would be given to tbe 
wounded? You never cared for them? A. How do you know. 

Q. How was it possible? • 
A. They could bring them, when they liked. 
Q. If they had gone there disobeying the curfew order you 

'Would not mind it 1 
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. A • . They a~ed fo r permission anrl I gave it and said they 
could go. !\ 

Q. Your permission was for the removal of the dead bodi~. 
Did you make any proclamatiun saying that to-day I modify thl! 
.curfew order? A. I allowed them to '0 and remove the dead . 

Q. Did you in any way modify the curfew order? 
A. It wa probably modified. 
Q. On the 13th? 
A. Probably. I think you will find it in these papers. 
O. Did you issue any proclamation say ing ' I modify the order 

a nd people are allowed to remain outside up to 12 o 'clock 'p 
A. I allowed them to go and take the dead . I thought they 

would be removed by night. 
Q. That i no answer to my question? 
A. I cannot tell you I allo\ved them to go and bring their 

dead. Therefore order must have been passed. 
Q. If the order was modified, how is it that you vent into the 

city at 9P. m. to see if your order was oheved or not? 
A. I don't think I went out at 9. I think it was later. 
Q. Thi s is the first time that we have been informed that 

-the order had been modified. Permission to remove the dead was 
issued on the 14th ? A. Yes. 

Q- SO long as you remained in Amritsar was there any 
·evidp. nce , apart [rom the inferenee, placed before you to show that 
there was an organized conspiracy? 

A. From what was happening in Amritsar and elsewhere I 
tormed the opini on Lhat there was a widespread conspiracy. 

Q. Apart from inference was there any tangible evidence 
produced bdore you to show that there was organized conspiracy 
,in Amritsar or what happened there was the result of that 
.conspi racy p 

. They were talking all S(1rts of things. There must have 
been organized conspiracy all along the line as far as I can judge. 

Q. When you went to Jallianwala Bagh there was no appre­
bension of your being ,attacked? 

A. There was certainly a possibility. 
Q. Did you take a large number of police also with you to the 

Bagh and left them outside just close to it? 
A. I do not know how many policemen were there, nor did I 

-.care. a 
Q. When you arrived at Amritsar on the II th there were 475 

British soldiers and 710 Indian soldiers and on the ... there were 530 
British soldiers and 635 Indian soldiers? A. Quite right. 

Q. Your source of information as to what was happening in the 
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city on the 12th and 13th-e ept what you saw wii:h your own 
eyes-was Ashraf Khan and nobody else? 

A. There were officers and lot" of people. 
Q. Lots of people visited you on the 12th and J 3th? 
A. 1 cannot say. 
Q. Lots of people came and gave you information? 
A. I say, not. . 
Q. uposing between 400 and 500 were ki lled in tbe 

Jallianwalla Bagh . What would be the proportion of the wounded ?' 
A. You will h:l.ve to mulliply it by three, it may be more. 
Q. Is it possible thaI one bullet would kill two or t,ree person l' 
A. uite possible. -
Q. You had already mad r. up your mind at Rambagh t hat you 

had a very unpleasant duty to perform and that you would have to 
do it? A. Yes . 

. Did you make any ambulance arrangements? 
A. No time to do that. 
Q. Was it brought to your noti ce that the dead hodies were 

mutilated at ni ght p A. Never heard of it. 
Q. Are you or are you not aware that so far as Ind.ia 

is concerned MarHal Law can be introduced only by certain. 
individuals? A. Yes. 

Q. In any fixed area can any officer proclaim Martial La lv 
and appoint officers for the purpose of trying ca es ? 

A. If thele i~ a rebellion olle would assume charge, the 
l1lan on the spot, and it will have the effect of Martial Law. 

Q. You could not get the e orders from the Lieutenant 
Governor e ith er by aeroplane or wire? A. We could have not. 

Q. Could you not have obtained orders from the Viceroy? 
A. Abs(,lu ely nOL. The situatiOIl was developing very fast. 
Q. You would not wire to the Lieutenant ove rnor telling 

him that the situation was serious and get orders? 
A- I think the Lieutenant Governor knew the situation as 

much as I did. 

. Can you' tell me why \~as it not possible for Mr Ir­
ving to inform the Lieutenant Governor that Martial L w should 
be introduced on the evening of the loth ? 

A . I say all things are possible. 

Q. When he was handing Over charfre to you did you 
ask him why he did not ask permission of the superior 
authorities? 

A. No. It was handed over to me and I thought I could 
manage it all right. . . 

Q. I, want to ask you Q question on the point whether you 
assumed authority on- the ground that you felt that the situatioD 
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demanded it or becau e the Deputy Commissioner had given you 
charge and that written document ? 

A. I \Va the Otlker 'ommanding in Amdt ar a well as 
Jullundur. If the civil law failed or cea ed to operate it i my duty 
to take things in hand until I get further order on the subject. 
So I took the situation in my hand. 

Q. After the civil authority was handecl over to you and you 
assume supreme authority in Amrit ar you could act independ ntly 
by virtue ot your own position? 

A. As in extreme ca e I could. If the ituation suddenly 
developed which demanded my assumption of re ponsibility it was 
my duty to do o. 

Q. May I know the conditions prescribed which would 
.con titute an extreme ca e which would justfy you to a ume that 
~mm~d? . . 

A. Well I honestly considered that there was a rebellion and 
that it was my duty to take the respon ibility. 

Q. You had no orders? A. No. 
Q. There mu t be ome order, written or verbal? 
A. I do not know of any order which will exactly suit what 

happened. 

Difference Betwteen Rebellion And Clvll Dlsorc(er. 

Q. What is the diffrerence between rebellion and civil disorder? 
Do you consider them one and the same thing or different thing? 

A. I should think if civil law has ceased that a rebellion is out. 
I should think the two thing are practically the same. But I am 
not a great expert on law. 

Q. In appreciating the situation which would enable you to 
take drastic powers over a largt: number of His Majesty 's subjects 
you have to exercise your judgement and see whether there were 
certain things which you 1Y0uid call rebellion. I assume you have 
.a very clear notion as to what rebellion mealls. 

Q. I think so. I have to run the risk but I have got to do it. 
Q In your opinion ceasing of law and orders is tantamount to 

the existence of rebellion? 
A. I should say very nearly that. If there is something serious 

going on rebellion would come in. 
Q. You certainly understand w lit rebellion means? 
A. I think I duo But we may make errors in judgment. 
Q. Very well, but cert.ainly you cannot have any doubt as to 

wbat constitutes rebel! ion ? 
A. In my own mind I will say this is rebellion; another man 

wiJI come and say this is not rebellion, I hew when 1 began to 
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take resJ>onsibil ity. If I was wrong in my ; judgment' I should pro-
bably suffer. . 

Subverting the Authorities by means of canes. 

Q. You said the people wue going to carry out t eir intentions 
of rebellion by meants of canes, 

A. Yes , to be armed properly. 
Q. I have just been asking the question probably according 

to you there was some orginisation behind the movement. So 11 
take it there was some intelligent people who were directing the 
movement : do you think any man of sense could think of sub­
"Verting the authorities by means of canes? 

A. A smal1 army of men armed with canes. It is q uite pos ible. 
Q. Do you think this organised mob could successfully, under 

any conditions be opposed to the forceu of the Crown. 
A. Not very long. In places like Amritsar or e lsewhere where­

the garrison is small, then they might suddenly attack and disarm 
the military forces and then having a little uccess they may even 
get them over to their side. 

Q. But it wont last long? 
A. I (10 not think so but a great deal of damage might be d1>n 

in the mean while. 
Q Were you not told on the 11th that it was a vey small 

proportion of the inhabitants of Amritsar, who were causing di order 
and that there was a large number of citizens who were law-abiding ~ 

A. I might have been told. But there were very large crowds. 
Therefore it looked as if a great many people had joined tbem 
becau e law and order was at an end. There would have been 
lots of men wlto if they were guarded would not hal'e been di slo)'aJ. 



B£ErJJ( H(jNl'£R COMM1T1'£e 

R. P. MARSDl!:N S. D. O. KASU&. 
Examined by Mr. ustice Rankin witne id Marli I L w 

W i" proclai med in K ur on the 16th April . It was M rti I L w 
ordinance 0 I 

Q: Have you been able to colll"Ct allY definile evidence as to 
what it w.. that caused t he excitement that broke out in riot 
on the 12th? 

A: \ ell, Oil Ihe J Ith there was the news about Mr. G Ildhi' 
al re t which illcrea ed the ex.~itemen~. Then they had a meeting 

11 the J II h and people were more exCrt ed after that. E rly in the 
mornin f the Ilth th y tarted mo ill about in the t9Wll aqd 
the 01 mOle and more excited. The [hell arrived at the talion 
nd the excitement wa uch that t,hey did what they .hdd d one. 

_ . Do you . all ribute it to the new~ being recdved of what 
b ,'peDerl at AmTlt ar nd Lahore on the loth? 

A: 1 do not think that was very lal gely the cau e. Il the 
ni~ht of I he 11th Ihey only heard vaguely of what had bappelled at 
Arnrit ar alld Lahore. 

Witl1. id: One H indI! plearler ~aid that Ihey wine like 
'unal med cau Ie' 10 [he eyes of Government. He said the Rowl tt 
ALt W6S like a rope round their necks, and 0 O il. 1 should" ay ill 
th .lt state of excilement of the crowd he ol}ght \lot to ha'e said 
lh II. 1 hould al oll1entiOIl at that time he had never actually 
recti.! the Rowlall Bill hut had only seen it in the Tribuuc:. That 
\V .I ' a veey grt~at respon~ibllity aud it showed that he retied on 
di . l() rted versioll in the public press. He never attempted to tell 
th m what the Act really was. He simply implie the e \Va 
OIllC"r hinll horrIble in it. That wa the effect 00 the crowd. 

Q: \"1 ere any of the~c: pleaders arrested on charges of 
u llc:llng eoit ion. 

A: N u, none except thost' mentioned. 
Lala DnaoiJatrai was arrested at the martial Law proclamatiun, 

becJu e the higher authorities came to the conclusion that he wa 
cau. ing I rouble and he was rem ved for sometime. Mr. Golam 
M"hiuddin aud tr. Abdul Kader wert' arrested for ha\'ing taken 
V .. rt in I he riot. 

Q : Apart flom the firing by tht" sol ier. who welt: at tacked , 
how lII,mv time dir1 the Police or t he 1ilita,y fire? 

:\: 'The Wit. ry never fired, except the tw" hots by 
the ~nll y. • 

Q : 0 hOlv maoy occasion wa there firin ? 
:\: When they were just about to burn the Ta hil Til t 

wa the ouly occasi J. I was not there at the time. 

6 
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Q: As far as you observed, wall any dj$~inctjon made between 
respectable and lower ciasil men as regards punishment for breaches 
of martial law order? 

A: If a man wa of respectable class he was fined, anti jf of a 
IQwer class he was probably whipped. I am going actually on the 
cases supplied to me. 

Q: As regards the school boys tha were whipped, you said 
the school authorities themselves were not domg well? 

A: Yes. 
Q: I did not quite catch the meaning of that expression. 
A: The Head Master was an old feeble ort of man, quite 

unable to keep order and one of the masters had actually been found 
to be leader of mo b and the procession in the city durin!t the 
disturbances and we all were very doubtful as to the attitude of the 
other school master. At least, they did dot seem to be in a hurry 
to punish their students for taking part in the riot. And a large 
majority of the boys were running about, taking part. Then the 
school master said: kindly give me military guard, my boys are '~ery 
insubordinate. 

Q: Insubordinate to their schoolmasters? A: I suppose so. 
Q: The boys had been cheating him or something you knew 

they were doing by way of diso der? 
i. : I took hlS meaning to be tha t they were still under great 

excitement and could cause mischief. 
Q: What was the date approximately? How long after the riot? 
A : I should think it was about 6 days after. He was asked to 

select 6 boys-and the master of the other school. But the result 
was that 6 boys were produced who were obviously o! the lower 
class being badly clothed. The Military Officer said you must not 
elect miserable specimens. 

Q: SO those boys were rejected. 
A: Yes. The Hedd Master would not select anyone. The 

boys themselve were told to select. Anyway,6 other boys were 
then selected. 

Q: How many stripes were then given? 
A: The 3 big boys 6 each and Lhe 3 small boys 3 e;tch. 
Q: Was It to make Kasur fall in line in tbe pas 'ive resi tance 

movement? A: That was the idea. 
Q: Not wit h a view to instigate to rise against the King 

E mperor? 
A: I think there was pI essure of that sort. At Patti there 

was a regular system by which lectures were delivered and people 
were excited. One of these men said, "You should obey the King 
but not his servants:' 
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ODe School Boy Ban,ed 
< Continuing wilne aid one school boy had been sentenced 

to be hanged. 
Q: What was the age of the boy? 
A. 17 years. I think it was merely the at mosphere of excite­

ment which was the cause. They could not hl!lp themselves. 
Continuing witne s said at Patti 31 were convicted and IS 

acquitted. Of the e 31, 14 were entenced to be whipped. At 
Kasur 30 were convicted and sentenced to be whipped, but in all 
40 were whipped. There were 4 men of Patti who were whipped 
by order of the fEcer Commanding and 6 school boys. The total 
number of stripes was 710 so that the average was 18 stripes for 
each individual. 

Q. To what caste did they belong to ? 
A. I understood they were of the lower class. I never 

actually aw. 
Q: Of what age? 
A: Except the school boys they were all of mature age. 

Three school boys were of 16 to 18 years and other three were of 
!l3 or 14. 

Q: Why were they punished? 
A: Thtl headmaster asked the O. C. the boys were getting 

insubordinate and asked if he could have military help. The O. C. 
thought he could not give military help and he thought that 
whipping was the best thing. So he called the boys and got them 
whipped by a Sikh drummer boy. Moreover the school authoritie 
were themselves not doing well. 

Q: Where were they whipped? A: Just outside the 
station entrance. 

Q: In public? A: Yes. it was in the presence of thl:! 
whole: school. 

Q: There was no whipping in the school premises? A: No. 
g: What was the object? A: There was no particular 

object. 
Q: Were it given in serious cases 01 for all sorts of offences? 
A: All sorts of cases. For rioting or burning of the station. 

I remember 4 or 5 were whipped bec<ruse they had treapa sed into 
• a woman's appartment, 2 or 3 had assaulLed the Lambardar and a 

large number for miscellaneous off"Dces. 
Q: Did this whipping take place in public or private? 
A: I have explained they ere whipped on the station 

platform which was then ~he Military headquarters. The platform 
was closed to the public at that time, so it is a question whether .it 

as private or public. They could not be seen by people out8i~. 
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Yes. They 
case which 

Q: Did all the whipping take place there ? A : 
were all on the station platfrom , execpt only in one 
might have been seen. 

g : Did you make in vestigations int o certaiu rumours as to­
the causes of the unrest such as recruiting? 

A : Yes. I ~as yery careful to fi nd out about that. I found 
there was absolutely no cause for complai in any re peel. In 
fapt , jt was such a backward place that t here wa no rc:cruiting at 
all. The number of recruits was ext remely small. 

g: Were the causes of unrest connected in any way with 
r~'rui t ing? 

A : I do not t hin k, it was at all. 
Q: During the administration of martial Jaw there we re tlVO 

cases of where men were shot by sentries? 
A: Yes, one case was at the station. T he British serHry at 

the stat ion entrance saw someone creeping forward . There was 
a dust storm at the time and it was difficult to see how many people 
were t here. The sent ry challenged the man repeatc:dly in English 
and in U rd u, but received no answer and the man ran lowards 
him. T he sentry tried to catch the man but he eluded him. 0 
he fired and the mall was killed . It was afterwards found that {he 
man w,jis deaf and dumb. It was an unfortunate incident. III the 
other case. which happened in a village, I was nol present. 

g: Were any complaint maoe rt:garding the administration 
of martial law ? 

A: There was no com plaint whatever at the time. Captain 
Doveton seemed to be extremely popular. He seemed to gather 
people round him .wd to tal k and chat with them. But righ t 
towards the end of his time whell Martial Law had been removed 
from Kasur proper, there were one or two who com~lained that he 
was doing things they did not like. What happened was Captain 
Doveton did not like to go through the formalities of trial and 5en· 
tence i he wanted to do things summarily. He used to make 
people nark time and climb ladders. Even that was 1I0t complain­
ed of by the people at the lime. They seemed to be very emu ed 
by it. They did IIOt reg,ard It <JS an act of tyrallny. There was one 
t hing which I thought lobe serious. A Sadhu hlld been white ­
washed by the Martial Law administralor. Hu t I asked him .. bout 
it and he said it was IIOt true. 

g : Was a scaffuld erecle : in 'public ? A: Yes. 
Q: Had you cOl1te.mplated executiun ill public? 
A: . That was the Idea. v 
Q : T hat was abandoned? A: \Ve started putling it up On 

lhe 3rO of May but on the 9th May Government ordered it to be 
re1lloved. By. t hat time it was not completed. 
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Q: The 
in dIsuse? 
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practice of eucution in public has been long 

A : "yes, but the idea was to have it on the actual scene of 
(he murder of tho e twO warrant officers. 

001. Macrae Was Responsible. 
Q: Who was re ponsible for this? 
A: Colonel Macrae was responsible. He was the officer 

-commanding at KaslIr at that time. 
He took over charge of Sub.divi~onal fficer~hip on the evening 

of t he 15th. He never heard t hat any di~turbance was caused 
by the crowd after 3 p.m. on tile I ah. After 3 p.m. nothing 
occurred in the city. It was quiet. 

Q: You were also informd that the police were able to make 
.arresrs on the 11 th itself ?-A: On the 12th. 

~: You were- not infromed that any police officer were as­
saulted 011 the 12th or sub equept date? 

A : Attempts were certainly made to assault. n the 12th 
the mob endeavoured to burn down the tehsil and a Sub.Inspector 
-of police was attacked and the Munsif was standing on the roof of 
the house and the crowd was going to burn . 

Q: Did anyone of the these officials ever make a re~rt to 
you that an attempt was made to assault them? 

A: I do not think so. 
Q: According to the Government case. although those two 

soldiers at the station emptied the chambers of the revolvers they 
did not do any damage to the crowd? 

A: One man was injured. 
Witness explained that an informer said that the soldier fired 

one round first, th~n another and then another. But another 
man. a contractor, said that t hey fired consIderable number of 
rounds. 

Q: This report is prac ically an abstract of the report which 
you submitted in obedience to the circular is ued by the Lieutenant 
-Governor ? - A : Yes. 

Q: Instead of mentioning that these two officers were atoned 
you said here :-The crowd follo wed It and inside it were two 

• warrant officers. They gOt out a nd stood at the door of the car­
riage. The crowd were ........ : ...... about 60 yards ofT throwing 
stones on the two men. One fell on the two men. They lost 
their heads and fired all rounds thout doing any damage.' This 
statement was made to t he Lieutenant Governor in June or 
July?-A: Yes. 

Q: I think it was a true version of what was your knowledge 
then.-A: Up to that time that was correct. 
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Q: SO far as your knowledge goes none of the mob was 
killed at the railway station ?-A: No. 

Q: Were you informed in the course of the investigation 
that an allegation was made, that previous to what happened t~ 
these two soldiers two persons were killed ? 

A: I never heard of any such thing. 
The O. I. D. Report . . 

Proceeding witness said that none of the other soldiers except 
these two had arms. He proclaimed martial law at Kasur by 
holding a Durbar. Dbanpat Rai was arrested there under Col. 
Macrae's order. Witness delivered no speech then. The age of 
Dbanpat Rai was 60. He was not a leader of the bar to his know­
ledge. At the time of his arrest I here was no information as to 
his committing any offence on the 12th. So far as his infor ­
mation went his arrest was not due to any action on his part ()u 
the 12th . The Commissioner sent order~ directing that be should 
be arrested and removed from there. He was not arrested for 
taking part in the hanal meeting of the 11th. He had a black 
record and was considered to be a dangerous mdn. He ".,as 
father-in -law of a man who tried to foment rising among troops 
(Ajit ~ingh, who was deported in 1907 with Lala Lajpat Rai). 
One Rahim Bux was deputed to take down notes nf I he 
speeches at the meeting of t he I Ith. From that report they 
would find that so far as the pnncipal speakers Ivere concerned, 
except one they were trying to pacify the crowd and that lheir 
speeches were moderate. He did not accept the report. The 
man did not give him any information about the ~peeches. 

Q: Have you read General Beynon 's order. 
A: About the Rowlatt Act? 
Q: Not Rowlatt Act but Martial law, A: I have read it. 
Q: Have you read the Defence of India Act. 
A: I have read it. 
Q: Do you remember the provisions? A: I forget. 
Q: Do you know what were the two important facts that 

were passed between 1908 and 1915 amending the Penal Code? 
A: I cannot tell you the details now. 
Q: Do you know what they were about? 
A: Which Acts you are speaking about? 
Q: The recent amendments of the 1. P. C. 
A: I recollect no particular changes. 
Q: I think you will agree With me that at least in a majority 

of ' the · places all over the world in every political agitation people 
4:ak~ their cue frolD the leaders and it is for everyone of the rank 
~lnd fire to study all political questions, to read all Acts ' and to> 
come toconclusions ? 
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A: i do. Q: Therefore r think no crime was committed 
b)' th~se moffusilleader living in Kasur where there is no political 
life-

Withes!! interrupting aid-There is J'loliticallife distinctly­
Q: You will not blame them if they adopted the view that 

was put forward before lhem by their own pres and by thei 
OWIl leaders? 

A: It is fooli It irre.~pollSibi'lity. 
Q. YOllr experience of your own country is thdt everyone 

of tile rank and file shoul.1 form opinions on these matters and 
study every political problem? 

A: I do not call them rank and file. There are three men 
who were keen on Congress. They are by no means rank 
and file , They re leader , responsible leaders or they should be 
respnnsible leaders. 

Wi lDe 5 addc:d that he said they were leader of the hartal ' 
movement b ecaus~ they admitted so. 

Q: If the shopkeepers went to them and said 'Let us have a 
meeLillg ana ome speeChes' that does not sholv tbat they wer . 
leaders of the hanal movement? 

A: The leaders also wished to have hartal. 
Q: III your OIVII country you think that men of the pd!lition 

of tbese pl~aders do not rely upon what view is caken by impor­
tant papers like the "Times" or by towerillg per analities lika, say, 
Gladstone, but everyone of I hem read$ every act and studies 
questions and forms responsible opinion? 

A: They are certainly bener informed and take trouble 
to study- , 

Q:' That is due to the difference in education in Iudia' 
and England? A : To some extent . 

"No Responsible Government in India," 
Q: And the diflerence that there is responsible Government 

thel e and [here is no responsible Government in India? 
A: I do noL think thal affect it. 
Q: Is it ,not a fact that all the,e pleaders who were arrested 

and who were never brought to tnal were arrested becaus'e the 
au thorilies wdnted to kill political lite in the whole province and 
because they have taken parr in the meeting on the lIth 
although that meeting was a n:todrat e meeting? 

A: Lala Dhanpat Rai who wa arrested did noc SI eak at all 
and the other two arresled were ilot arrested for chat at all. 

Q: Iil your statement you said that all tbe things done by 
Martial Law authorities were relished and approved of by tbe 
people. Are you still of the dpioion that the peopre relished 
and approved of all these things? A: Obviously. 
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Q: . From November [(j18 to April 19!9 did the authorilies t 
to . your knowledge, take any sleps .to meet. according 10 you, 
false rumours? 

. A : They did not de. Q: You did . not blame them for 
not doinlt it ? 1 

A: I was not there. I did not blame. 
Q: But you blMne.t he pleaders? A: eSt r do. 
C ntinlling wil ness said that Ghulam Mohy-ud .din h'ld said 

at the meeting of the J It'h that the Hindus and Mussalmans had 
one head, two hands, two feet lind they should act 35 one man. 
This was the worst sentence in the opinion of Mr. Marsden io 
the speeches delivered at the meetill~. . 

Q: You have stated that the military authorities were allow-
ed to go to the villages to arrest people, have you not? 

A: They were allowed to take steps tney comidered neces ary. 
Q: Who gave them information ?, 
'A: Information was given to the police and they inrormed 

the military of that. 
0: Did that information contain names? A: Yes. 
g : And that information was reliable information? A: Yes. 
Q: That information was taken down iO 'writing? 
A t I expect so. 
Q: And on the hasis of that information a very large nuroi'1el 

of arrests were made? A: Yes. 
g: All those arrestg .were made between t2 in the night 

and 4 or 5 in the morning? A: Yes. 
g. : Any hostages taken from the villages? . 
A; I think some were taken from Patti . They were not 

brought '0 Kasur. 
Q ~ There ~as something like a cage .out side tbe railway, 

statIon? A : Yes. 
Panditji: I think at cert;tin times t he number of persons in-

sid\: t his cage was .107 or 108 ? . . 
A : I do oot think it was more t·hao 70 or 80: I am not 

quire sure.-Q: They could be seen by the public ?-A ; YeS!. 
Q: Were the pleaders arrestt:d, handcuffed arid taken 

through the bazat ? 
A: ' Yes, they . were handcuffed and taken to tbe railway 

station,-Q: Why was Dhanpat Rai handcuff~d ? 
A ,: There was a state. of rebellion a"ld you must take precau-

tions. .. . ( 
g: You thought that this man, wh 0 was 60 years old 'would 

run ,away?-A: His rescue might b.ave been effected.-
Q: Might have been effected ? 
A: Of ,course. Prisoners are. always taken hand cuffed. 
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"lancy Punishments." 
Q: About the fancy puni hment you have de cribed do you 

mean if a person named Ke ho Dlts was made to dr w line with 
his no e for a period of time ?~A : n paper? 

Panditji: Not on paper, but 011 ground . His no e is not a 
pencil (Laughter.) A: J have not heard of that. 

Q: Do you remember I hat a person wa awarded this fancy 
punishment for pu,cha ing rice at more than 4 cers a rupee ? 

A: No I can't ~el1 you. 
Q: Were not some Arya 'amajist arre ted becau e they 

ere Arya amajists? 
A: No Arya Samajist wa art e ted at Kasur, but at Patti 

he Arya amajilt invited Arya,amaji lect L1rers to deliver some 
lectures and the police arrested some five or ix of them becau e 
the police said that Ihey had been promoting di turbance, 

Q: Wa any evidence produced against them? A: We 
have a memorandum of their lc:cture . 

Q: And what is the worst thing that YOIl see there? 
A: The worst thing that I have seen is this, "You must obey 

t he King but not the King's servants " 
~ : When YOll say that the civil authorities were not able 

to check what was beioj;t dOlle 00 the 12th. is it not a fact that 
the civil authorities were informed very late and practically when 
they arri ved e eryt hing was over? 

A: The riot had laken place and the crowd continued the 
work of destruction, . 

COOl inuiog the wit ne 5 said that the m·,b firRt attacked the 
slation buildings, and when the Tahsildar went to brio the 
Sub-Divisional Officer, the crowd had damaged the rest of the 
station, The damage was not done when the civil authorities 
,vere present at the statioll . imilarly what had happened to the 
treaslIry aud the tehsil were also done when the civil authorities 
were not ,present. As soon as Ihe Sub-Divisional flicer arrived 
he gave ordel to fire. As a result of the firing the mob dispersed. 
Some seven or eight were arrested and some olhers were taken in 
cu tody because they were wounded, There was a Martial Law 
order issued saying, that of a\l those per ons who were residents 

• and had g{)ne away did not return to Kasur wil hin a filted time 
1iomething would be dOntl to' the:r property. Witnes raised no 
objection to the order but in isted on it because he wanted tho e 
persons who had murdered other Among t he names of outsiders 
who were present on the 12th was one Dani Ram of Amritsar 
and another who was S dhu also of Amritsar. -The Sadhu, 
witness believe, always lived at Amritsar. Except these two, he 
was not able to trace any other person. He did not consider t he 
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Sadhu to be a political leader of any place. It was true that the 
mob first went to damage the office and were going aw y when 
somebody stood up before t hem and after addre sing them 
brought them back. The object of the crowd, it was alleged by 
some, wa to cry -Hai, Hai ' aod make other demonstration to 
indicate their otlposition to the Rowlatt.Jilll, beforq some Euro­
peans who would be going by the trainsThat would be passing 
the station. There might also h,ave been ome IOtentioll te> 
do damage to the railway stalion, but he took it that they wanted 
to wr eck the train. From hi s enquiries it was his opinion that 
the zamindars were /lOt connected in the I roubles at a\l, bu t only 
the budmash element in the villages. There vere statements to 
the effect that there was no . Irace of any general risi ng or 
t hat any band of men were aying in wait outside Kasur, but he 
did not believe them. People as a whole were refused permit 
to go oUlside Kasur and propably there were some oleaders al 0 
who were not allowed to go 00 professinnal engl1gemen. But 
he remembered tbat some pleaders were allowed to go. 

Q: Was it a fact that those pleader who were consKlered 
loyal were allowed to go and I hnse who were coosidere'd to be 
seditious or agitators were not logo? 

A ! I dOIl't think thal wa ' the ca e. Each application was 
considered on its merit~, whether he was a pleader or not. 

The name of the man who harangued outside the latioll 
was Kamal udin ; he was sentenced 10 be hanged but sub equent· 
ly hi s sentence was committed to ~evetl year. He did not quite 
remember why Ihe incriminating cry of the crowd was omitted 
by him from the report. I he cry of 'The B riti,h Rule is at an ·end.' 
He heard th t another villager was shot dowll 00 the ground that 
he threatened a soldier with a lathi . He thought al\ tao e persons 
who were in arre t for a long time without trial were brought 
to the railway static-n, and were present at the lecture. The 
flogging that wa going 011 at the olatform could be een by t he 
peol,le outside, and at the time of flo(!lgiog there were no other 
people except the stalion staff. No wire wa cut after the 17th 
or 1 tho After the 18lh there was no other occurrence except 
that which happened on the 23rd. Except th~t a large number of 
persons ere arre ted on suspicion and flogged and punished under 
Martial Law, the presence of t hOe soldiers in the disl rict out-ide 
Ka ur helped to keep the hudma hes in order. There was still 
a large number of bud mashes Cor wb en they were searching the 
houses of villagers they found wea \lon of some budma,hes. 

Q: If in tead of infliCt inll: punishment according to the 
Indian Penal Code or Criminal Procedure C de yOll take r~course 
to summary procedure for every offence and prescribe punishment 
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of flogging or shooting, do you think that the crimes will go 
down to a very large extent , and would that be reason for the 
enforcement and maintenance of Martial Law? 

I A: I looked at it and I don't find that the number of crimes 
is going down. 

Q: Then, there is no necessity for Martial Law? 
A: The presence of the troops was to keep them from show­

ing those tendencies which they otherwise would show. For 
instance if there is ' hart ai' to-morrO\V they would be very much 
em boldened to create some trouble. 

Q: Then, do you mean tha~ there is necessity for Martial 
Law even now? A: I think so. 

Q: SO in order to enfor e order t he maintenance of 
Marllal Law is :\bsolutely necessary? 

A ; No. I say the situation at any moment may prove to· 
be dangerous. 

0: Even now the it uation is (he same? 
X: Not the same, but still dangerous. 
Witness continuing aid thar he was not agtl inst holding 

pol itical meetings but against ' hartal,' practically the 'nartalr 
at Kasur was brought about by pressure from ou tside . Wjtness 
believed that 'hartal' lVas going to be abs~luteJy indefinite so long 
as the Revoluti onary Crimes Act was there. 

Q: Throughout I he whole of the Punjab no di turbances or 
wire-cutting took place after the 18th instant. A: That is so. , 

Panditji: Therefore I shoilid like to know why if Mtlnial 
Law was necessary in I he first inslance, it was neces ary t<> 
continue it after that date. 

A: Because the same callses which had caused the introduc­
tion of the Law were still in existence. The anarchical crime 
are ~till in existence. Mr. Gandhi is still in exi tence. 

g: Ye~, I hdve heard that revolutionary crimes are still in 
existence, Mr. Gandhi is nOI dead , Rowlat Act ill Dot dead , And,) 
so far as India is concerned you are of opinion that for the 

. maill te nance of peace and order enforcement of Martial Law 
must be al ways kept ready? 

A: I t should be ready because ultimately all ~uthorilY 
depends on force ? • 

Pdndi tji :-[ knmv that phi losophicl1 proposition. Then 
so far as India is concerned vou are of opinioll that t he mainten­
ence of peace and order depel~s IIpon the use of forcft and the 
measures wh~ch tbe Government have not already availed itself of: 
. A : That is tbe case in every country. 

Q: Have you eved fouod anywhere else that Martial Law 
was IDtroduced in these circumstances? 
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A: I didn't say Martial Law. I only said that all authority 
depends on force. 

Q: Are you in favour of Khilafat movement j (Laughter.) 
A: Khilafat movement? . How can I say that. 
The Presidmt here i1ztC/fJe1led alld the qllestio1l was dropped. 

Q : 0 you know anything about Crtl'tlinal Law Amend. 
ment Act III of (1 908.) 

A: No j nothing about it. I had nOl come to India at that 
time ( 1908.) 

Q: When did you came to India? A: ) q' 2. Witness 
did not know the provisions of the Criminal Law Amend. 
ment Act. 

Q: Being a first class ma'gistrate entrusted with the lives 
and liberties of the Indian public how is it that you did not know 
anything about the provisions of the Act with which you have 
to deal in every.day life and yet you blame at the same time 
that the pleaders were not quite conversant with the provisions 
oCthe Rowlatt Act r 

A: I was not making a speech about the Criminal L..aw 
Amendment Act, as the pleaders were doing on the Rowlatt Act. 

Q ~ Therefore you mean that a man who is making a speech 
should be more careful than a man who deals with the lives and 
liberties of' he people ? (Laughter.) 

A: Your logic seems to be deft"ctive. 

OAPTAIN DOVETON. 
Examined by Lord Hunter said that he administered Martial 

Law in Kasllr for some days. In connection with the punish. 
ments <ldministered ullder Marti al Law witness did invent some 
minor punishments, bu t they were in the case of those who in 
any way resisted authority. He started punishJ'llent about the 
end of May and continued unt il the Martial Law was removed. 
It was less severe than the ordillary Martial Law punishment. 

Q: There is a suggestion that you ordered a Sahdu to be 
whitewashed? A: That is imply wrong. 

Witness then explained th ,t[ there was a particular piece of 
work to b . done at thl! goods shed and the Sadhu was asked to 
load and unload lime there. Al1d a it was a rainy day, it was 
quite pos~ible that the Shadhu had been covered with lime and 
then he gOt wet. 

Q: It is further suggested that you ordered some men, by 
liay of punishment, todraw lines on the ground with their noses? 

A: That is incorrect . \ 
Q: Can you account for such a rumour being started? 
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A: I can't . The mo t that I did was to order the convict­

ed men to put their forehead 0'0 the ground before me. II was 
:simply to make the people cknowledge the authority, but no 
a punishment. 

Q: Did you ever hear it made a cOlllplaillt? A: Yes. 
~ When was the general order relaxin\! the Martial L w 

ord~rs i sued? A: They were relaxed by degree, 
Q: I u;>po e the public of K" ur would have been cOllsi· 

deraoly il\conv~niel1ced by some of I hose order? A: Yes. 
Q: Panicularly in I he c e of t he order abuut tra,·elllOg? 
:\: ThaI was relaxed before allY 01 her 01 de, ? 
Q: Old YOIl yourself deli vel lecture to the people of K ur? 
A: Yes. 1 delivered lectures Oil the gene.al iLUalion 

and tried to make them ee thl! in Lheir true per pective. In 
facl, it wa more in the ncl[ure of advice. 

Q: Had you made your. elf fdmiliar with the provi iOIl of 
the Rowlatt Act? 

A: 1 would not h ve been an au t hority on that. "But the' 
main point of my lectures was t o how that there was really no 
great hardship in passing 'he Rowlatt Act, and that whatever 
hard hip It involved, did n ot ju tify the action (disturbance) 
which took place. 

Q: Generally yOIl discussed the Rowlatt Act with a view to 
removing the uspicioll as to the provisions I hat had ari en in 
the oeople' . mind o wing to I he rumours ? A : Ye that wa o· 

Q: I think that at one o f your lecture yo u h ad tht: assi • 
tallce of olle o f the pleade, s ? 

A: Yes. When I finished my lecture I asked M ulvi 
Ghulam Mohiuddin to make a few remarks. 

Q: Do you know why he was arrested ? A: I understand 
he was arrestt:d wil hout any charge being made again t him. 

Q: Did he make a speech accordin g to your ati faction? 

A: 

A. 
(J . 
A. 

J-
at all? 

atisfactory in e very way. 
Were you p..-esent at tht: time of whipping? 
YeS: in nearl y all case ~ . 
Do you kn ow th at some peoi, l.,: succumbed to t he injury ? 
N ot to my kn o \\ ledge. 
D yo u kuo w of any ca e of coll a p, e ? A. I d id 'l o t see . 
DUling yo ur lime the re was 1I I whipping in the public 

A . it wa. enti rel y private. erhere were ,hree boy, quite 
children, wh,! were ~t:'n clo wn by the pecial Tribun d at LahOI e 
to be pUll ishea and 1 though l that it wo uld be better if the­
school boy at Ka u r were present to wilne s the whipping . 
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IJ. In one case you administered a considerable number of 
lashes and also two years' rigorous imprisonment? 

A. The maxitllum imposed was 2 years, 30 lashes and R • 30 

as fine. 
Q. You suggest that "the people Itenerally did not object 

to Martial Law." How do you say that? 
A. Generally, the people expressed hemselves like that . 

.In fact, I was told that the people appreciated Martial Law more 
than any other. 

Q. Did you ask anybody to do skipping? 
A. As regards the skipping, it was suggested to me by an 

accuSed person. He came and told me he would do kipplng if 
he was excused the punishment. The skipping was zo times 
without breaking. • 

Q. He made that offer and you took him at his word? 
A . Yes. 
Q. And aIter that you inflicted this skipping puni hment 

.on those who did not ask for it ?-A. Yes. 
O. Of what ages were the people who were made to skip? 
A. I should say people of middle age. 
Q. How much? A. 20 without break. 
Q\ How many people do you thank were given this pun' h­

ment ?-A. At least 20. 
Q. You will agree with me that it rather tended to bring 

the proceedin~ under contempt? 
A. I don't know that it brought the proceedings under 

contempt. It acted as a deterrant. 
Q. Apart from skipping was there any punishment like 

climbing the ladder and other forms of manual labour ? A. Yes 
O. It was alleged that some Sadhus were ordered to be 

\vhirewashed by you as a special punishment? 
A. That is not true. Among tho e who were sent to work 

in tbe goods shed were some Sadhus and. as they had to work at 
lime, they were covered with lime like tbar. 

. How many? A. I think four or five. 
Q, What wer~ tbese people guilty of for which they were 

punished to work an t he goods shed? 
A. I am unable to tell you that. 
Q. It must be for being truculent or defiant and in addition 

owing something to the railway ccfmpany ? A. Not necessarily. 
O. They may have committed some other offence? 
A. I think it quite possibl . 
Q. Then you say in your statement that "similar treatmeot 

was meted out to all persons who threatened railway officials ...... 
and made a show of violence ...... ' ? 


